EVALUATING THE ROLE OF IN-CHANNEL NATURAL FLOOD MANAGEMENT INTERVENTIONS IN HABITAT IMPROVEMENT AND CREATION FOR LAMPREY SPECIES

A thesis submitted to the University of Gloucestershire in accordance with the requirements of the degree of Masters by Research. In collaboration with the Wildfowl and Wetlands Trust.

> Masters by Research September 2023

> > **Elizabeth Jolley**





Author's declaration

I declare that the work in this thesis was carried out in accordance with the regulations of the University of Gloucestershire and is original except where indicated by specific reference in the text. No part of the thesis has been submitted as part of any other academic award. The thesis has not been presented to any other education institution in the United Kingdom or overseas.

Any views expressed in the thesis are those of the author and in no way represent those of the University.



Date: 30.09.2023

DOI: 10.46289/8DD2R6U8

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the University of Gloucestershire and the Wildfowl and Wetland Trust for providing the opportunity, facilities, and funding to conduct this important piece of research. In addition, I would like to thank the laboratory technician team at the University of Gloucestershire for their resources and support with this project. Thank you to Natural Resources Wales for contributing valuable *L. fluviatilis* and *L. planeri* voucher samples towards this research.

Finally, individuals that require a special thanks are my supervisors; Dr Lucy Clarke, Dr Laura Weldon, and Dr Daniel Stones, who have guided and supported me patiently throughout the entire project.

Abstract

Lamprey are known to be valuable ecosystem drivers, transporting, and introducing deep marine sediments and nutrients into freshwater systems. *Lampetra* species in particular have been declining in number over recent decades, which has been the result of anthropogenic interference and habitat fragmentation. *Lampetra fluviatilis* and *Lampetra planeri* have been recognised as vulnerable, demonstrating the need for further research into locating suitable habitats around UK freshwater catchments.

This project aimed to create a concise fieldwork and laboratory methodology for the collection and analysis of environmental water samples. The samples were used to determine the presence-absence of *Lampetra* species during a single spawning season (April 2023) at a positive control site located in the Forest of Dean. Current eDNA techniques were combined with genus-specific qPCR assays to monitor temporal patterns of eDNA concentration across the spawning season in four locations These results were compared with sediment grain size data and physical characteristic measurements to understand influences on *Lampetra* spawning.

The main finding of this study was *Lampetra* species eDNA presence found within water samples taken from the field site during the spawning period investigated. Additionally, it located possible spawning and nursery sediments along a stretch, with physical characteristics known to support both *Lampetra* adults and ammocoetes. The physical characteristics of the sites are similar to those produced by the inclusion of leaky barriers as part of NFM work in rivers and therefore it is assumed that these interventions could create new habitats that are suitable for lamprey spawning. Projects such as this contribute to the growing evidence that eDNA techniques such as qPCR can be used as an alternative to more traditional methodology, often producing rapid and sensitive results without invasive or harmful interaction.

Contents

Acknowledgements	II :::
Abstract	III iv
Contents	IV Vi
Table of Abbroviations	VI 1
Table of Abbreviations	1
	1
1. Introduction	2
1.1 Flood Milligation	2
1.2 Natural Flood Management	2
1.2. I Leaky Dallis	5
1.3 Lampiey Ecology	0
1.3.1 Lampetra nuvialins	0
1.3.2 Lamprov Spowning	9
1.4 Environmentel DNA	10
1.4 Environmental DNA	12
1.5 Polymorase Chain Peaction	13
1.6 Project Aims and Objectives	14
2 Mothodologios	10
2.1 Site Selection	17
2.2 Physical Characteristics	17
2.2.1 Sediment Analysis	10
2.3 eDNA Methodologies	21
2.3 1 Obtaining Samples	21
2.3.2 DNA Extractions	21
2.3.2 DNA Extractions 2.3.3 PCR and aPCR Testing	22
2.3.4 Final dPCR Protocol	20
2.3.5 Agarose Gel	33
2.3.6 Gel Electrophoresis	34
2.3.7 Sequencing	34
3 Results	35
3 1 Physical Characteristics Analysis	35
3 2 Grain Size Analysis	35
3.3 Gel Electrophoresis Analysis	38
3.4 gPCR Presence-Absence	40
4 Discussion	46
4 1 Grain Size and Physical Characteristics	46
4.2 Gradient Polymerase Chain Reaction Analysis	50
4.3 Methodology Optimisation	51
4 4 Lampetra Presence-Absence	53
5. Conclusions and Recommendations	56
5.1 Conclusions	56
5.2 Recommendations	57
References	58

List of Figures and Tables

Figure 1.1	Diagram depicting the range of flood management interventions across the upper, middle, and lower course of a drainage basin (Burgess-Gamble et al., 2017).	3
Figure 1.2	Leaky dam positioned along the Painswick stream in the Cotswolds as part of the Wildfowl and Wetland Trust (WWT) Natural Flood Management project.	5
Figure 1.3	 A) <i>L. fluviatilis</i> smolt specimen taken from Kucheryavyy et al. (2022). B) <i>L. planeri</i> adult specimen taken from Sperone et al. (2019). 	6
Figure 1.4	Map showing the distribution extent of <i>Lampetra</i> species throughout Europe based on the sampling sites of Espanhol et al. (2007).	7
Figure 1.5	A) Map showing the distribution of <i>L. fluviatilis</i> throughout the UK based on 1172 confirmed records. B) Map showing the distribution of <i>L. planeri</i> throughout the UK based on 4678 confirmed records. These maps were taken from NBN Atlas (2023).	7
Figure 1.6	Diagram detailing the life stages of <i>Lampetra fluviatilis</i> taken from I.C.E.S (2015).	8
Figure 1.7	Diagram showing the life stages of <i>Lampetra planeri</i> .	9
Figure 1.8	Graphic depicting the cyclical process of PCR, used to amplify target amplicons (Thermo Fisher Scientific, 2023).	15
Figure 2.1	Fieldwork site located at the stream between the Soudley Ponds, Cinderford, within the Forest of Dean. The inlaid map shows the relative location of the sampling site within the United Kingdom.	18
Figure 2.2	A) Each sediment sample after 12 hours drying at 105 °C. Top left- sampling point 1, top right- sampling point 2, bottom left- sampling point 3 and bottom right- sampling point 4. B) The sieve cascade and shaking plate. The top sieve comprises of a 16-8 mm diameter steel mesh and the bottom sieve comprises of a 1 mm diameter steel mesh.	20
Figure 2.3	Malvern Laser Granulometer HydroMU 2000 used to determine the ratio of sand, silt, and clay in the four sediment samples.	21
Figure 2.4	96 well assay plate layout for the pilot qPCR run. Blue) <i>L. planeri</i> dilution series replicates, (Red) <i>L. fluviatilis</i> series replicates, (Green) Combined DNA series replicates. The orange wells show the layout of the four environmental samples. Wells outlined in black were NTCs.	28
Figure 2.5	96 well qPCR assay plate. Blue) <i>L. planeri</i> dilution series replicates, (Red) <i>L. fluviatilis</i> series replicates, (Green) Combined DNA series replicates. The orange wells show the four environmental samples tested. Wells outlined in black were NTCs.	30
Figure 2.6	Plate layout for 25 environmental samples with three replicates (blue). Combined <i>Lampetra</i> DNA serial dilution replicates (green).	31

	NTCs are outlined in black, well A9 was an NTC for the dilution series and well A10 was an NTC for the environmental samples.	
Figure 2.7	Plate layout of five spiked negative environmental samples tested in triplicate (purple), and a duplicate dilution series of combined <i>Lampetra</i> DNA (green). The well outlined in black was the NTC.	33
Figure 3.1	Bedload sediment distribution for sample 1 (A), sample 2 (B), sample 3 (C) and sample 4 (D). Distribution was calculated using a sieve cascade. Colours indicate sediment types, with the coarsest as dark grey and the finest as pale yellow.	36
Figure 3.2	Percentage of Sand:Silt:Clay grains for each sampling point measured using a Granulometer 2000 (Malvern Panalytical).	37
Figure 3.3	Bedload sediment classification of four samples from Soudley Ponds. Percentages were determined using a Granulometer 2000 (Malvern Panalytical). Sediment categories are based on the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) classification system.	38
Figure 3.4	Gel of gradient PCR used to test optimum annealing temperatures with a temperature range of 55 – 65 °C. A) CO1 primers and (B) ATPase6 primers. Both sets of primer were taken from Zancolli et al. (2018).	39
Figure 3.5	Gel of environmental water sample positive qPCR products. Well 1) collected 12.04.2023, (Well 2) collected 28.04.2023, (Well 3) collected 21.04.2023, (Well 4) collected 26.04.2023, (Well 5) collected 21.04.2023, (Well 6) No Template Control and (Well 7) Positive Control.	40
Figure 3.6	qPCR assay results from a PCR inhibitors check using a real-time qPCR machine (Azure Biosystems).	41
Figure 3.7	A) qPCR assay results showing the amplification of target amplicons in 25 environmental water samples compared with a 1:5 dilution series of genomic <i>L. planeri</i> and <i>L. fluviatilis</i> DNA and (B) Dilution series standard curve from the same qPCR analysis. All analysis was conducted on real-time qPCR machine (Azure Biosystems).	42
Figure 3.8	A) Map highlighting the presence of <i>Lampetra</i> eDNA at each sampling point for water samples collected from the 03.04.2023 to the 17.04.2023, (B) Presence on the 19.04.2023, (C) Presence on the 21.04.2023, (D) Presence on the 24.04.2023 and (E) Presence on the 26.04.2023 and 28.04.2023 (the same for both days).	43
Figure 3.9	Box and Whisker plot showing the number of positive wells per sampling day. The top line represents the upper quartile, the mid-line represents the median, the bottom line shows the lower quartile, and the bars show the range.	44
Figure 3.10	Line graph showing the number of positive amplification detections compared with the volume of environmental water sample filtered.	45

Table 2.1	List of each sampling point with the given code for the paired water samples taken and their geographic location. Each filter was labelled with the code and date of collection.	19
Table 2.2	Sequences for the probe, forward and reverse primers tested using a gradient PCR. The probes correspond to a <i>Lampetra</i> species, and the bold alleles highlight the position of a Single Nucleotide Polymorphism. Marker length is 83 base pairs.	23
Table 2.3	PCR reaction components, recommended volumes, and final volumes (a maximum of 8 reactions). Final volume of each reaction was 50 µl using primers from Souissi et al. (2022).	24
Table 2.4	Sequences for the probe, forward and reverse primers tested using gradient PCR.	24
Table 2.5	PCR reaction components, recommended protocol volumes and the final volume of each reagent. The final volume was 50 μ l per reaction for both sets of Zancolli et al. (2018) primers.	25
Table 2.6	PCR reaction components, recommended protocol volumes and the final volume of each reagent (maximum of 14 reactions) on a 96 well qPCR plate.	26
Table 2.7	PCR reaction components, the recommended volume and final reaction volumes per probe taken from Zancolli et al. (2018). The final volume in each well was 20 µl.	26
Table 2.8	Reagent list, recommended volumes, and the final volumes for <i>L. planeri</i> , <i>L. fluviatilis</i> and combined dilution series. Final volumes for the environmental samples are also outlined.	28
Table 2.9	Reagent list, recommended volumes, and the final volumes for the serial dilutions (maximum of 18 reactions) and environmental samples (maximum of 12 reactions).	29
Table 2.10	Reagent list, recommended volumes, and the final volumes for the dilution series and for 25 environmental samples (maximum of 80 reactions).	31
Table 2.11	Reagent list, recommended volumes, and the final volumes for the combined DNA dilution series replicates and spiked samples (maximum of 20 reactions for the standards and samples).	32
Table 3.1	Physical characteristic averages taken on 28.04.2023 at each of the sampling points at Soudley Ponds, Cinderford.	35
Table 4.1	Optimum physical characteristics and particle size for each stage of <i>Lampetra sp.</i> life cycle.	47

Table of Abbreviations

Full	Abbreviation
Bovine Serum Albumin	BSA
Dimethyl Sulfoxide	DMSO
Environmental DNA	eDNA
Master Mix	M.M
Minutes	Min
Natural Flood Management	NFM
No-Template Control	NTC
Polymerase Chain Reaction	PCR
Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction	qPCR
Seconds	Sec
Single Nucleotide Polymorphism	SNP
Volts	V

Ethical Considerations

The University of Gloucestershire's Handbook of Research Ethics was considered and understood before either field or lab work was undertaken. Additionally, risk assessments completed for both the lab and fieldwork were completed and signed off before samples were collected or analysed. Permissions were sought before fieldwork commenced and protected areas were not disturbed at any time during sampling. There was no use of other humans or animals during any of the proposed research, and ecological impact was minimised through ensuring environmental biosecurity measures were adhered to at all times whilst out in the field. There was no invasive or direct impact on either *L. planeri* or *L. fluviatilis* so due to the circumstances of the research, there was no requirement to submit an ethics form with the university.

1. Introduction

To fully understand the scope of this research, it was necessary to remark upon the following themes: conservation of vulnerable species, anthropogenic influences within the natural environment, and advances of rapid monitoring techniques. The first chapter provides an overview of the importance of these themes with regard to elusive species, focusing on two in particular where many current monitoring techniques have proved laborious and costly. Streamlining conservation strategies begins with the broader context of the research and ends with the main project aims as shown in the following sections.

Flood excess occurs when the volume of water during a flood event exceeds the threshold of a catchment and generates damage (Chen et al., 2009). The concept of flood-excess volume has a strong influence on mitigation strategies. Before and during such events, it is important to minimise flood damages through a number of mitigating interventions. These flooding events have become increasingly frequent and extreme as a result of multiple factors, both environmental and anthropogenic. Data from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) shows a predicted 7% increase in extreme daily precipitation events by 2030 and has called for a global effort to increase flood mitigation infrastructure (United Nations, 2022). Official data has shown a trend of increasing flooding events globally due to several working factors, with flooding accounting for 44% of all global natural disasters in 2020 (Cooper et al., 2021). Anthropogenic factors that affect the frequency of floods include land use change such as urbanisation, and climate change (Tang, 2020).

1.1 Flood Mitigation

Flood mitigating structures can be divided into soft and hard engineering, utilising different concepts and materials (Mobley et al., 2020). Hard engineering strategies use permanent interventions and artificial materials to reduce the risk and effects of flooding along aquatic systems. For example, hard engineering includes sea walls, gabions, rip rap and groynes as flood defences for coastal management (Kantamaneni et al., 2022). These structures are used to reduce the negative impacts of coastal flooding, erosion, and sediment transportation. Soft engineering approaches to mitigate flood events along coasts involve beach replenishment or nourishment and restoring natural habitats (Morris et al., 2018). Additionally, within the freshwater environment hard structures such as dams, weirs and channels are used to mitigate the social and economic effects of flooding on urban areas (Kurigi and Hysa, 2021). Nature-based solutions utilise natural processes to promote economic, social, and environmental changes (Lafortezza et al., 2018). Natural Flood Management (NFM) utilises soft, natural materials such as wood to limit flooding impacts through natural processes, specifically infiltration (Grabowski et al., 2019). NFM gained momentum after an early governmental report was published by the Environment Agency (2017), which noted the use of NFM interventions in flood mitigation strategies as results of UK floods in 2015 and 2016.

1.2 Natural Flood Management

NFM is classed as a subset of nature-based solutions used to mitigate the impacts of climate change and natural events (Wilkinson et al., 2019). NFM can be defined as the restoration

and utilisation of natural floodplain or channel characteristics around a catchment (Short et al., 2019). These interventions can be used to support the use of natural processes within freshwater environments and can help to address catchment-scale gaps through long-term monitoring. Natural processes can be used as a tool to reduce flooding through the implementation of measures that emulate natural functions within rivers, floodplains, and catchments. These measures aim to restore or protect ecosystem services and can be implemented in both rural and urban areas. According to Gov.uk (2021) when utilising natural processes, the main benefits to environmental services include improved water quality, flood mitigation, climate regulation and habitat quality. Characteristics can be utilised through a range of interventions that affect riparian hydrology (Venkataramanan et al., 2020), summarised in Figure 1.1. The main aim of NFM projects is to attenuate the flow of water within a catchment and increase infiltration upstream (Nicholson et al., 2020). This encourages water storage upstream to help mitigate the damages caused by flood events on urban areas downstream (Johnson et al., 2022).



Figure 1.1 Diagram depicting the range of flood management interventions across the upper, middle, and lower course of a drainage basin (Burgess-Gamble et al., 2017).

NFM projects can incorporate woodland management, run-off management as well as floodplain and river management (Gov.uk, 2021). Woodland, field, in-channel, and riparian interventions can have both ecological and social impacts (Mondal and Sahoo, 2022). Woodland based measures span from wet woodlands to tree planting, which divert water from the watercourse and encourage higher infiltration rates during months of increased precipitation (Dittrich et al., 2019). Field interventions comprise mainly of tree planting and

the addition of ponds which accumulate and hold water higher up within the catchment (Collentine and Futter, 2018). The most commonly used in-channel infrastructure are wooden/leaky dams, which decrease water flow downstream and encourage flooding of wild land in autumn or winter months (Gunnell et al., 2019). Many of the NFM structures can be key to habitat creation in freshwater systems (Black et al., 2021).

There are socio-economic advantages of implementing NFM measures within a catchment (Wells et al., 2020). Economic costs of repairing hard infrastructure post flooding are higher than NFM materials and labour costs (lacob et al., 2014), with the floods in summer 2007 costing £3.2 billion and winter flooding in 2016 costing £1.3 billion in damages to rural and urban areas (Cooper et al., 2021). The comparative cost of implementing soft NFM interventions versus hard engineering structures has been estimated based on the type of intervention, calculating the minimum and maximum cost. For example, Short et al. (2019) estimates that per leaky dam, the cost ranges between a minimum of £77 and a maximum of £400. These estimates are relatively low when compared to hard infrastructure such as sea walls, which can cost upwards of £8000 depending on the length and height (Khazai et al., 2007). NFM projects are a collaborative effort from stakeholders which can encourage partnerships and improve communication within communities (Garvey and Paavola, 2021).

There are multiple ecological benefits that stem from NFM projects. Interventions that accumulate water and sediment such as silt traps, can help improve water quality by reducing the volume of in-stream pollutants through sediment build-up (Liu et al., 2020). For example, agricultural run-off from farms that may contain effluents and pesticides can be prevented from entering the aquatic system (Wingfield et al., 2019). Increasing the attenuation of water and sediments around interventions can aid climate change mitigation (Ellis et al., 2021) as carbon becomes sequestered and buried in freshwater sediments over time, termed 'Teal Carbon' (Zinke, 2020). Organic matter also accumulates around NFM structures, promoting an increase in filter feeders that remove decomposing material from the aquatic environment (Lo et al., 2021).

Although such projects have multiple benefits, there are a number of negatives that can result from NFM infrastructure (Kotowski et al., 2004). A negative social impact from introducing NFM to a catchment is conflicts between stakeholders regarding the implementation and maintenance responsibilities of infrastructure (Bark et al., 2021). These disadvantages are similar to negative impacts of hard engineering structures such as sea walls and dams (Rahel and McLaughlin, 2018). Using soft engineering techniques can be less effective when trying to control large flooding events, compared to hard methods like channelisation (Nakamura, 2022). Muhawenimana et al. (2023) proposes that there is a lack of design optimisation or guidance for leaky dams in relation to flood management. Additionally, materials used for soft interventions have a reduced longevity compared to harder materials such as metal and concrete (Dadson et al., 2017). Using natural materials can increase economic costs overtime as soft structures are damaged more easily and require repairs more frequently. Hard structures such as sea walls have a life span of decades and in some cases centuries (Toimil et al., 2020). Green infrastructure such as leaky dams are considered to have a life span of up to 30 years before needing to be replaced (Alves et al., 2020).

1.2.1 Leaky Dams

Leaky dams (Figure 1.2) are constructed by securing large pieces of natural material across a stream or river, stretching from one bank to the other (Bokhove et al., 2018). This inchannel infrastructure continues to allow base flow through, reducing the negative impacts that other barriers may pose to migratory aquatic species. Allowing low water levels through these structures ensures that habitats downstream of such interventions still maintain a flow (Lo et al., 2021). The material used for leaky dams is most often wooden trunks which can be repurposed into these soft structures (Grabowski et al., 2019).

Leaky dams can affect riparian water dynamics by decreasing in-channel water velocity (Hankin et al., 2020), which affects the suspension of sediment particles within the water column (Bazarov et al., 2020). This increases the volume of fluvial sediment deposition, most notably either side of the structure (Huang et al., 2022). Deposits can include finer sediments such as sand, silt, and clay which are particularly important for creating ecological habitats (Follett and Wilson, 2020). One of the main threats to freshwater biodiversity is the degradation of habitats (Colin et al., 2018). Leaky dams have been shown to increase biodiversity in their surrounding environments as a result of this habitat creation (Deane et al., 2021). This increases the importance of research on measures that help to produce or preserve degrading habitats. A disadvantage of leaky dams is that they may obstruct the pathways of larger migratory aquatic species which are unable to pass through these structures (Moser et al., 2021). Unlike hard structures, there are fewer adaptations for leaky dams to accommodate larger migratory species without compromising their effectiveness (Müller et al., 2021).



Figure 1.2 Leaky dam positioned along the Painswick stream in the Cotswolds as part of the Wildfowl and Wetland Trust (WWT) Natural Flood Management project.

1.3 Lamprey Ecology

Lampreys are jawless, cartilaginous agnathans (of the order Petromyzontiform) with a physical morphology similar to eels (Hume et al., 2021). Like eels, they lack scales or paired fins, with only dorsal fins to aid swimming (Borowiec et al., 2021). Two species of European lamprey, the larger River Lamprey (Lampetra fluviatilis) (Figure 1.3a) and smaller Brook Lamprey (Lampetra planeri) (Figure 1.3b), can be found around Europe (Figure 1.4) including the waterways of the UK (Igoe et al., 2004). Both species are legally protected through the European Habitat Directive Annex II and V, whereby members of the agreement must protect habitats that are known to support lamprey populations (Shephard et al., 2019). Additionally, Annex V prohibits removing the named species and sub-species from the wild (Docker et al., 2015). Habitats that support lamprey populations can also be protected through Special Areas of Conservation (SAC) status, which legally cannot be disturbed (Albright and Lucas, 2021). Lamprey presence in the UK (Figure 1.5) spans from the South of England to the Highlands of Scotland (Hume et al., 2018). There are several known landlocked populations of Lampetra fluviatilis (L. fluviatilis) in Scottish Lochs which are considered of high ecological importance within the EU (Morris, 1989). Previous research of these two species has primarily focussed on distribution and genetic similarities through phylogeny studies, aiming to decipher whether these are ecotypes of the same species or two separate species of lamprey (De Cahsan et al., 2020).



1 cm

Figure 1.3 A) *L. fluviatilis* smolt specimen taken from Kucheryavyy et al. (2022). B) *L. planeri* adult specimen taken from Sperone et al. (2019).



Figure 1.4 Map showing the distribution extent of *Lampetra* species throughout Europe based on the sampling sites of Espanhol et al. (2007).







Figure 1.5 A) Map showing the distribution of *L. fluviatilis* throughout the UK based on 1172 confirmed records. B) Map showing the distribution of *L. planeri* throughout the UK based on 4678 confirmed records. These maps were taken from NBN Atlas (2023).

1.3.1 Lampetra fluviatilis

Lampetra fluviatilis (Linnaeus, 1758) can only be found within western Europe due to a rapid decline in populations elsewhere in the EU (Kujawa et al., 2019). They are larger than L. planeri, with adults growing to approximately 30-45 cm in length (Figure 1.3a) and appearing grey-blue in colour (Kucheryavyy et al., 2022). Lampetra fluviatilis have diadromous life cycles (Figure 1.6), sharing marine habitats with species such as Sea lamprey (*Petromyzon* marinus), and freshwater habitats with L. planeri (Tsimbalov et al., 2015), Lampetra fluviatilis adopts an anadromous life stage for spawning as individuals reach reproductive maturity. migrating inland up freshwater rivers and streams from estuarine habitats (Zvezdin et al., 2022). Migrations begin from late autumn and continue until the end of spring, coinciding with the start of the spawning season (Tummers et al., 2016). Adults migrate during hours of darkness to avoid predation and maximise chances of reaching spawning sites (Mateus et al., 2021). Lamprey migration is a source of material and nutrient transport between the marine and freshwater environments (Nislow and Kynard, 2009). Ammocoetes spend between 3-5 years in burrows before maturing into macrophthlamia (Goodwin et al., 2008). Macrophthlamia migrate out to oceanic feeding grounds, where individuals display parasitichematophagous behaviours (Quintella et al., 2021). When fully developed, L. fluviatilis adults form a row of teeth around their mouthpart which they use to latch onto fish and rasp at the tissue to yield blood (Adams et al., 2008). This is a distinguishing feature of L. fluviatilis adults and can enable species identification when compared with L. planeri (Polyakova et al., 2019).



Figure 1.6 Diagram detailing the life stages of Lampetra fluviatilis taken from I.C.E.S (2015).

1.3.2 Lampetra planeri

Lampetra planeri (Bloch, 1784) is a smaller lamprey species, with adults growing between 11-20 cm in length (Byrne et al., 2000). When fully matured into adults (Figure 1.3b), they appear a grey-brown colour with white undersides (Sperone et al., 2019). Lampetra planeri have suffered a decrease in number throughout the UK but are more easily detected than other species due to the accessibility of their habitats (Hume, 2017). As this species of lamprey do not migrate large distances through waterways, they can be found in locations where other migratory species are not present (Schreiber and Engelhorn, 1998). An example would be that L. planeri are often present in habitats further upstream of watercourses that have a migratory barrier. Lampetra fluviatilis may struggle to pass these migratory barriers, creating a delay in spawning and result in a wider distribution of L. planeri in freshwater systems (Russon and Kemp, 2011). Lampetra planeri ammocoetes spend an average of 7 years buried in nursery sediments (Figure 1.7) where, similarly to L. fluviatilis, they filter feed on organic matter (Dawson et al., 2015). Both species feed on plant and animal detritus, diatoms, and algae within sediments at the ammocoetes stage (Loshakova and Knizhin, 2015) Unlike parasitic L. fluviatilis, mature L. planeri adults do not have a working mouthpart and do not feed, instead relying on stored resources for reproduction (Malmqvist, 1980). L. Lampetra planeri are known to have a lower fecundity than L. fluviatilis, which is a contributing factor to their decline (Silva et al., 2015).



Figure 1.7 Diagram showing the life stages of Lampetra planeri.

1.3.3 Lamprey Spawning

Freshwater sites are chosen for spawning due to many factors such as water flow velocity, which aids fertilisation (Clemens et al., 2016). Previous studies have shown that lamprey choose their spawning sites based on the stream or river gradient and the sediment particle size (Aronsuu and Tertsunen, 2015). Suitable and favourable spawning habitats consist of larger particles of sediment such as pebbles and gravel (Oliveira et al., 2022). Lampreys have a low fidelity to natal spawning sites and in some cases do not return to the same catchment to spawn (Davies et al., 2022). Once suitable spawning substrate has been located, male lampreys arrange larger rocks to form a circular nest or redd (Zvezdin et al., 2017). These redds appear as bare patches of small gravel surrounded by a ring of larger pebbles and rocks (Dhamelincourt et al., 2022). The female individuals will settle in the redd, and a number of males will attach by latching on with a mouthpart (Cochran et al., 2008). Males wrap themselves around a female in order to position themselves for the release of gametes (Johnson et al., 2015). Once intertwined, females can release up to 25,000 eggs in one dispersal using the current to transport them into gaps between sediment (Docker et al., 2019). All 41 known species of lamprey are lithophilic, producing gametes which are released during a single spawning event (Daupagne et al., 2022).

Lampetra fluviatilis and Lampetra planeri share the same spawning season, reproducing between April and July (Lasne et al., 2010). Spawning occurs in darkness to avoid predation of the eggs, starting at 17:00 and finishing by 03:00 the next morning (Russon and Kemp, 2011). Lamprey eggs are coated in an adhesive substance which enables the eggs to accumulate sand and gravel sediments (Yorke and McMillan, 1979). Once enough substrate has adhered to the eggs, they become weighted and sink to reduce passive displacement (Staponkus and Kesminas, 2014). Additionally, this keeps eggs hidden from predators, which increases the number of hatchlings that survive to the larval stage (Kemp et al., 2011). Once the lampreys have successfully fertilised and dispersed the eggs, the adults will die due to the resource strain (Kujawa et al., 2019). Fertilised eggs hatch after roughly 3 weeks and release ammocoetes into the river current (Silva et al., 2015). Ammocoete is the term given to a lamprey larva upon hatching where there are no distinguishable physical characteristics. It precedes the juvenile stage where differentiating characteristics develop (Dawson et al., 2015). Through a combination of active swimming and passive drift, the larvae migrate to suitable nursery habitats where they create burrows in the silt (Maitland, 1980). Each species of lamprey has a burrow-dwelling stage, highlighting the importance of these sediments for larval recruitment (Quintella et al., 2007). After the ammocoete stage, the larvae develop into juveniles termed macrophthlamia (Moser et al., 2015). Once ready to migrate, macrophthlamia mature into their adult morphs over 3 to 4 months and stop feeding (Dziewulska and Domagała, 2009).

Lampetra planeri are more difficult to observe due to their extended period buried in nursery sediments, however they have a wider distribution than *L. fluviatilis* (Golovanov et al., 2019). Where lamprey populations have been identified in the Southern Hemisphere, there is little to no conservation effort, with many lamprey species lacking enough abundance data to accurately assess their conservation status (Lucas et al., 2021). Methods to capture lampreys have previously been grouped into two separate categories: passive or active sampling. Passive methods are non-invasive and include eDNA techniques or sampling when individuals are within the water column. Active methods can be more destructive and include substrate excavation or encouraging individuals out of burrows (Clemens et al.,

2022). *Lampetra* species are most commonly captured through more traditional methods such as netting, trawling, walk-over surveys, and electrofishing in key habitats. Monitoring and surveillance of both lamprey species is usually conducted through electrofishing (Harris et al., 2023). These techniques can provide strong observational datasets, showing species population trends and identifying suitable spawning or nursery substrates (Jones et al., 2020). There are disadvantages when using these more traditional methods, for example trawling methods are highly invasive within the lamprey habitats. The distribution of lamprey is determined by the physical characteristics of the freshwater environment that they live in, and in particular the grain size of the channel (Moser et al., 2019). Habitat connectivity and fragmentation has been highlighted as a key factor for the decline of lamprey throughout the UK (Lothian et al., 2020). Invasive methods can negatively affect habitat quality for aquatic species, adding to freshwater habitat degradation throughout Europe (Lecaudey et al., 2019).

1.4 Environmental DNA

Environmental DNA (eDNA) are collectively the biological traces left after an organism has moved through an environment (Thomas et al., 2020). These traces may be in the form of gametes (excretory products such as cells or faeces), and can be sampled from air, water, or terrestrial ecosystems (Rees et al., 2014). Conservation uses of eDNA include the ecological monitoring of endangered or vulnerable species, species identification, and determining the prevalence of invasive species (Thomsen et al., 2012). Within both terrestrial and aquatic habitats, eDNA has been adopted for ecological biomonitoring (Moser et al., 2007). Globally, these methods help contribute to the production of socioeconomically or commercially important harvest species (Yates et al., 2019). Similarly, eDNA can determine ecological interactions that are key to environmental services such as pollination (Banerjee et al., 2022). Methods utilise mitochondrial, ribosomal, or nucleic genetic material for species identification which is extracted from eDNA capture techniques (Blank et al., 2008). Mitochondrial DNA is found within the mitochondria of animal cells; ribosomal DNA and nucleic DNA are found within the nucleus of animal cells. Mitochondrial DNA is the most common DNA captured in environmental samples. The most common method of obtaining eDNA from aquatic environments is capturing genetic material in filter paper pores (Lekang et al., 2015).

Genetic material can be extracted from a wide range of matter including sediments and is suitable for palaeontology studies (Evans and Weber, 2020). eDNA can be extracted from sediments collected in cores to understand past species or community distribution in chronological order (Wesselmann et al., 2022). Wider applications of eDNA methods can be seen within the public health sector, where wastewater analysis provided community-scale tracking of covid RNA prevalence during the 2020-2021 pandemic (Palmer et al., 2021). Research such as this has solidified eDNA as a rapid and highly sensitive diagnostical tool which can be utilised across a wide range of sectors. Currently the predominant application of eDNA is to determine the presence or absence of target species in circumstances where it is not possible to collect observational data (Xia et al., 2021). Very little genetic material is needed to enable species identification or presence-absence testing (Bylemans et al., 2019). This is beneficial when the target species is endangered, protected, or rare and obtaining a physical tissue sample may not be possible (Piggott, 2016). As sampling techniques are

non-invasive, collecting eDNA has little to no effect on organisms and their environments (Baltazar-Soares et al., 2022).

There are many benefits to using eDNA techniques for species identification and calculating biodiversity (Larson et al., 2020). eDNA methods can produce results quicker than conventional observational methods such as electrofishing capture and release using nets or trawling (Pereira et al., 2021). Traditional methods can have increased time, labour and resource costs when compared to eDNA techniques which can provide rapid results within 24 hours of sample collection (Jerde, 2021). When using the more traditional methods such as trawling or dredging, costs increase due to the need of trawling equipment. Similarly, when collecting samples via research vessels, a trawling crew is required for extended periods of time, which can also increase labour costs (Virdin et al., 2022). Unlike other biomonitoring methods, eDNA capture requires fewer and much cheaper resources whilst still maintaining reliable, rapid results (Wang et al., 2021). The average length of time needed to collect trawling samples varies depending on the research area, the storage capacity of the vessel and weather conditions (Docker and Hume, 2019). Total time dedicated to walkover and electrofishing surveys can range from hours to multiple days depending on the size of the site and the number of individuals involved (Chambers et al., 2021). Additionally, traditional techniques like trawling or dredging can be highly destructive to the organisms and their environment, often resulting in fatalities. eDNA methods are both non-invasive and non-destructive which is key when working with protected, vulnerable species (Zou et al., 2020).

Within a project, eDNA techniques can be combined with more traditional capture methods such as trawling, where water samples are taken at different depths. Afzali et al. (2021) determined that when combining eDNA metabarcoding and trawling at depths of up to 250 m, eDNA proved more effective at quantifying species richness. This study found that 53% of total detected species overlapped between the eDNA and trawling method - with metabarcoding detecting a higher number of species that are known to be resilient to trawling gear. Afzali et al. (2021) similarly determined that eDNA metabarcoding can be used to compliment trawling surveys and provide reliable data for vertical fish distribution in water columns and relative quantitative estimates of fish biodiversity. Similar research conducted by Przybyla-Kelly et al. (2023) showed that eDNA techniques such as ddPCR and qPCR had a higher sensitivity compared to trawl catch data at the same depths ranging from 8 to 83 m deep. An advantage of combining conservation methods is that eDNA techniques can be used therefore neglecting largely rock substrate habitats (You et al., 2021).

Despite an increase in eDNA methods since its first use, there are persistent inconsistencies and a lack of standardisation for many species (De Cahsan et al., 2020). Well documented limitations when using eDNA for conservation include the inability to determine species abundance or biomass (Lawson-Handley et al., 2019). Currently there few reliable eDNA techniques for measuring species total abundance, which limits the use of such methods to primarily presence-absence testing (Beng and Corlett, 2020). These techniques cannot determine the life stage or age of the target species, unlike observational methods which can also provide gender identification (Huisman, 2017). Challenges of working with eDNA are often beyond the control of the researcher due to biotic and abiotic factors (Barnes and Turner, 2016). Due to the turbulence of the natural aquatic environment, there are several abiotic factors which can influence the quality of eDNA collection (Pilliod et al., 2014). Much of the literature states that the quality of samples is greatly affected by disturbances of the benthic substrate, as this can cause a decrease in the total volume of water filtered (Capo et al., 2020). eDNA methods are able confirm the presence of a target species at the sample location, but this may be from eDNA transported by currents from upstream habitats (Carraro et al., 2020). Water turbulence may also cause issues within larger catchments.

Fish DNA within the aguatic environment is known to decay overtime and can be compared across several decay models (Tsuji et al., 2019; Shogren et al., 2018; Andruszkiewicz et al., 2021). eDNA has been found to go through an initial rapid decay which is then followed by a much slower decay period (Rourke et al., 2022). Decay rates differ across individual fish species and environmental conditions, with aquatic DNA half-life ranging from 1 hour up to 10 days after the initial rapid decay (Collins et al., 2018). Many studies utilising eDNA methods suggest DNA degrades at a faster rate in marine environments when compared to freshwater (Lamb et al., 2022). Abiotic influences such as solar radiation, dissolved oxygen, and pH similarly induce decay in eDNA. It is understood that the presence of humic acid produced by decomposing vegetation can degrade the quality of eDNA in aquatic environments (Hallam et al., 2021). Despite several abiotic factors affecting eDNA degradation, research has shown that temperature has the greatest impact and can accelerate these rates (Barnes et al., 2014). The literature shows that the range of influences on eDNA sample quality includes biological conditions and the characteristics of the DNA itself (Holman et al., 2022). Research conducted by Friebertshauser et al. (2019) determined that DNA decay is positively correlated with biotic factors such as the presence of filter feeding organisms within aquatic habitats.

eDNA can help ecologists to better understand a species past and present habitat preferences, as well as distribution, through genetic signatures (Thomsen and Willerslev, 2015). Techniques have advanced in recent decades to allow whole communities to be detected, including trophic interactions through stomach contents analysis both in aquatic environments and terrestrial environments (Garlapati et al., 2019). eDNA can determine how species are interacting within an ecosystem and decipher complex food web interactions by analysing an organism's diet from stomach contents (Weber et al., 2023). Alternatively, the same techniques can be used to determine mutualistic relationships between species in environments (Johnson et al., 2023). DNA techniques can be optimised to have high sensitivity for the target species and have the potential to be as accurate as observational identifications without the need to observe individuals when sampling (Stoeckle et al., 2017). Similarly, for conservation projects where the target species may be protected, eDNA methods can be used without the need to acquire handling licenses or special permissions in order to conduct the research (Veilleux et al., 2021).

1.4.1 eDNA for Lamprey Identification

Reoccurring identification issues have arisen with regards to *L. planeri* and *L. fluviatilis* observational data as adults have very few distinguishable characteristics apart from body size or mouthpart (Mateus et al., 2013). During the ammocoete stage, the larvae of all lamprey species show no distinguishing morphological characteristics (Moser et al., 2007). Although there are differences in life cycle stages and adult morphologies, many studies have considered *L. planeri* and *L. fluviatilis* as paired species (Rougemont et al., 2017). The genetic differentiation of the two lampreys is low in sympatric environments where they

share the same habitats, and these two species are considered partially reproductively isolated ecotypes (Docker and Potter, 2019). As the species share similarities in their DNA and are found in many of the same environments, the two European *Lampetra* species are considered by some to be the same species with different phenotypes (Decanter et al., 2023). Similarly, like eel species during the spawning season, an increase in genetic material is released into the environment through gametes and skin cells where mating individuals intertwine (Takeuchi et al., 2019). Additionally, these particular species expire after mating, causing the carcasses to breakdown within the aquatic system and releasing more DNA. It is most common to conduct lamprey surveys and sampling during the spawning season to better the chances of observations or capturing eDNA (De Souza et al., 2016). Additionally, another issue which can hinder species identification is hybridisation between *L. planeri* and *L. fluviatilis* due to their genetic likeness (Docker, 2009).

DNA analysis has been an important tool in understanding the genetic similarities of the two lamprey target species, especially with regards to the question of shared phylogeny (Pereira et al., 2021). Online open-source databanks, such as the National Centre for Biotechnology Information (NCBI), provide a large resource of well-defined genomes including L. fluviatilis and L. planeri. This allows the identification of species from eDNA through comparative DNA sequencing (Rausch et al., 2019). A study by Souissi et al. (2022), located a Single Nucleotide Polymorphism (SNP) that can be used to genetically identify the separate species when both are present in the same location. Prior to the genetic analysis conducted by Souissi et al. (2022), a report was published regarding proof of concept for using eDNA sampling in order to test the presence-absence of Lampetra species. Within their study, Zancolli et al. (2018) listed 6 pairs of probes and primers which could be used to determine the presence-absence of specifically Lampetra species, even when other lamprey species may be present. One disadvantage of this study however was the lack of data relating to the efficiency of these primers and probes, or any data to show they had been used with true environmental samples. Further research is needed to confidently identify the presenceabsence of both Lampetra species, particularly in locations where both species may be present and gene flow may be occurring (Bracken et al., 2015). There is a need to standardise and optimise a working method for the Zancolli et al. (2018) primers and probes, and to field test the presence-absence of both Lampetra species. eDNA as a conservation tool has a high potential for bridging such knowledge gaps, either complementing more traditional methods or as a stand-alone technique. Published applications such as Zancolli et al. (2018) have focused on outlining prospective field methods and recommendations for capturing lamprey eDNA, however there few studies that have conducted these methods in a field environment. Additionally, many of these applications have used laboratory trials to proof test methods but have yet to be conducted in the field (Souissi et al., 2022).

1.5 Polymerase Chain Reaction

Since its first use, Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) techniques have helped to revolutionise both genetic and biological research (Garibyan and Avashia, 2013). The uses of PCR range from the biomedical industry to environmental and commercial food standards monitoring (Zhu et al., 2020). Although there are some applications which require space-domain systems, most current methods used are time-domain based protocols (Nekrutenko et al., 2000). Developing from initial research, the introduction of new DNA polymerases with

increased stability and efficiency, as well as the development of highly sensitive quantitative methods such as digital PCR (dPCR) and quantitative PCR (qPCR), have increased the utility of PCR further still (Hunter et al., 2017). PCR is a reaction which enables the exponential and specific synthesis of a region of DNA (Figure 1.8) using two specifically designed DNA fragments, which are complimentary to a target DNA molecule within the sample (Van Pelt-Verkuil et al., 2008). These small, specific DNA fragments are either termed oligonucleotides or primers, and are required by the DNA polymerase to initiate synthesis of each strand of the DNA molecule (Valentini and Pompa, 2016).



Figure 1.8 Graphic depicting the cyclical process of PCR, used to amplify target amplicons (Thermo Fisher Scientific, 2023).

Most PCR assays generally have a high specificity which is determined through the hybridisation of complementary base pairing (Sachse, 2003). Correct hybridisation occurs when the specific primer sequence is complementary to the sequences present on the target DNA that is being amplified (Wittwer et al., 2001). The addition of a reporting dye such as SYBR Green or other fluorescent probes, allows for amplicon quantification (Zhang et al., 2015). PCR protocols are often coupled with gel electrophoresis which allows the size (in base pairs) of any reaction products present within the sample to be determined, helping to differentiate between amplicon or show the presence-absence of a target amplicon (Koskinen et al., 2009). The main principle of PCR is that by using an initial small volume of target DNA, this can be amplified into much larger volumes that are required for subsequent protocols (Valentini and Pompa, 2016).

Although PCR methods have evolved in accuracy and specificity over previous decades, there are persistent issues that can arise when carrying out assays. One example of such issues is the over-estimation of low DNA concentrations through bias sources (Hajia, 2018). These sources of bias include false positives, non-linear relationships between expected and measured DNA concentrations and non-specific amplification or contamination (Smith and

Osborn, 2009). False positives can be defined as background signals or artefacts which are produced by PCR instrumentation rather than the target DNA being amplified. Without the use of a positive control sample, false positives can go undetected and affect the final results. PCR inhibitors can skew the results of these processes, for example any substance which will disturb the fluorophore function impairs the analysis (Schrader et al., 2012). When working with eDNA, inhibitors from the natural environment such as humic acid can disrupt PCR methods and result in misleading data (Hallam et al., 2021). PCR is a process used exclusively for amplifying small volumes of DNA, making it the one of the most useful tools for analysing eDNA samples with regards to presence-absence testing (Rishan et al., 2023). eDNA samples produce very small yields when extracted due to several reasons, such as capture time and degradation in the natural environment. For these reasons, PCR is necessary to increase the volume of and concentration of eDNA for further analysis.

1.6 Project Aims and Objectives

There are inconsistencies in lamprey taxonomy which stem from a lack of in-field methods that are able to distinguish between species and ongoing discussions between scientists regarding lampreys' evolutionary history and nomenclature system. Lamprey phylogeny is complicated by disparities in the scientific language used between studies, creating confusion as to where lamprey sit within taxa (Docker et al., 2015). Continuing uncertainty remains when trying to distinguish between paired species using the same habitats, with a limited number of new methods attempting to resolve this issue (Alfino and Roberts, 2019). Additionally, there is limited research associated with *L. planeri* which may have resulted from a decline in populations since the 1950s and difficulties obtaining accurate voucher specimens. This study is rooted in ecological conservation and strives to improve upon current methodologies to identify suitable lamprey habitat using eDNA methods. This study aims to evaluate whether in-channel NFM interventions contribute to habitat creation for lamprey species and develops eDNA methods as a rapid assessment tool for monitoring and surveillance of lamprey at suitable sites.

The objectives of this study are:

- 1. Evaluate current eDNA methods available to differentiate between *L. planeri* and *L. fluviatilis* and create a workflow for the data collection, preparation, and analysis of samples to allow application of eDNA.
- 2. Characterise the grain size and flow characteristics of river sites to identify potential lamprey habitat.
- 3. Collect eDNA samples over one spawning season to determine the presenceabsence of *L. fluviatilis* and *L. planeri* at a positive control site.
- 4. In a field setting, evaluate the effectiveness of eDNA presence/absence methods at positive control site and correlate this with the physical characteristics of the site to determine if leaky barriers do create new habitats suitable for lamprey.

2. Methodologies

2.1 Site Selection

To develop in-field and laboratory eDNA methodologies to confirm the presence-absence of *Lampetra* species, a positive control site with past confirmation of lamprey presence was required. The fieldwork site was selected based on observational data from Harrison and Pinder (2020), which confirmed the presence of both *L. fluviatilis* and *L. planeri* at locations around Soudley Ponds, Cinderford (51°47'56"N, 2°29'30"W). Harrison and Pinder's findings confirmed the presence of lamprey individuals at two sites out of twenty-five electro-fished around the catchment. In this study, a single adult *L. planeri* and two larval *L. fluviatilis / L. planeri* were recorded. There were no leaky barriers present at this site, however the conditions of the site were similar to those of NFM catchments.

A walkover of the site was conducted ahead of the fieldwork season (01.04.23), to determine site suitability for the proposed sampling methodology, and the sampling points were identified during this site walkover. Permissions were sought ahead of the fieldwork Forestry England. All water samples for eDNA analysis were collected from 03.04.2023 – 28.04.2023, at four sampling points along the stream connecting two of the Soudley Ponds (Figure 2.1). These points were chosen due to accessibility from the stream bank and were evenly spaced geographically along the reach. Samples were collected at sunrise three times per week (Monday, Wednesday, and Friday) during the sampling period. The samples were filtered on-site within 1 hour of collection and within 2 hours of collection on the University of Gloucestershire (UoG) Francis Close Hall Campus, Cheltenham, when on-site filtering was not possible; these steps are outlined in the sections below.



Figure 2.1 Fieldwork site located at the stream between the Soudley Ponds, Cinderford, within the Forest of Dean. The inlaid map shows the relative location of the sampling site within the United Kingdom.

2.2 Physical Characteristics

In addition to the water samples, one sediment sample was taken, and the physical characteristics of the river channel were measured at each sampling point on the final day of the fieldwork season. Sediment samples were taken using a trowel and gloves from the bank of the stream at each point. Approximately one full trowel of sediment was taken from the stream bed and placed into individual plastic bags labelled with the collection date and the sampling point code (Table 2.1). The four sediment samples were transported back to the laboratory for drying. The physical characteristics measured included water temperature, pH, dissolved oxygen (DO) and water flow velocity. The first three variables were measured at the fieldwork site using meters (the Hanna HI991300 Multimeter and HI9146 Dissolved Oxygen Meter) that were calibrated on-site and then placed into the stream channel to take readings. Water flow velocity was measured with a Valeport 801 Electromagnetic Flow Meter. This was held in the water for 30 sec at 40% of the channel depth and the average flow measurement recorded. All equipment was cleaned in the UoG laboratory before use at the field site.

Name	Sample Code	Location
Sampling Point 1	S1a/S1b	51°47'52"N, 2°29'31"W
Sampling Point 2	S2a/S2b	51°47'51"N, 2°29'31"W
Sampling Point 3	S3a/S3b	51°47'47"N, 2°29'32"W
Sampling Point 4	S4a/S4b	51°47'45"N, 2°29'32"W

Table 2.1 List of each sampling point with the given code for the paired water samples taken and their geographic location. Each filter was labelled with the code and date of collection.

2.2.1 Sediment Analysis

At the UoG laboratory, the contents of each sediment sample bag were oven-dried in a metal tray at 105 °C for 12 hours and weighed the following day using a fine balance to determine total dry weight of each sample (Figure 2.2a). Each dried sample was tipped one at a time into the top sieve of a sieve cascade which was secured onto a shaking plate. The sieve cascade was made of six steel mesh sieves, beginning with the largest mesh size (diameter 16 mm) at the top and the smallest size at the bottom (diameter 1 mm) of the cascade (Figure 2.2b). The samples were shaken at an amplitude of 5 for a total of 5 min. After shaking the sieves were separated, and the contents of each weighed on the fine balance. These data were used to determine the percentage fraction of each grain size category through dividing the dry contents of each sieve by the dry weight of the whole sample and multiplying by 100.

Α.





Figure 2.2 A) Each sediment sample after 12 hours drying at 105 °C. Top left- sampling point 1, top right- sampling point 2, bottom left- sampling point 3 and bottom right- sampling point 4. B) The sieve cascade and shaking plate. The top sieve comprises of a 16-8 mm diameter steel mesh and the bottom sieve comprises of a 1 mm diameter steel mesh.

To decrease the volume of sediment <1 mm for each sample point for the laser spectroscopy process, the sediment was passed through a riffle box. Sediment entered the top of the riffle box where the grains were randomly split between two collection trays. This process was repeated until 10 mL of sediment <1 mm was transferred into a glass beaker. A loose slurry was created for each sample by combining a small volume of sediment with 10% Sodium Hexametaphosphate solution in the 10 mL glass beaker using a metal spatula. Sediment finer than 1 mm was processed using the Granulometer HydroMU 2000 (Malvern) which determines the ratio of sand, silt, and clay in each sample through laser spectroscopy (Figure 2.3). This instrument connected to a desktop computer where the Mastersizer 2000 software recorded the data of each sample.



Figure 2.3 Malvern Laser Granulometer HydroMU 2000 used to determine the ratio of sand, silt, and clay in the four sediment samples.

The system was emptied and flushed with 800 mL of clean tap water three times before a sample was tested. A beaker containing 800 mL of tap water was placed under the stirring mechanism and the sediment slurry was added gradually using the metal spatula until the Mastersizer 2000 software indicated enough slurry had been added. Each sample underwent 60 sec of ultrasonic mixing to disperse the grains before the ratio measurements were taken. Once a sample had been analysed the Granulometer was drained and rinsed another three times before the next sample slurry was added to a fresh beaker containing 800 mL of tap water. This process was repeated for all sediment samples and all data outputs were exported into a Microsoft Office Excel file.

2.3 eDNA Methodologies

This section outlines the optimisation of a working qPCR laboratory methodology for environmental water samples using the ATPase6 primers and probe taken from Zancolli et al. (2018). The primers and probe had not previously optimised, demonstrating the need for a section outlining the qPCR methodology development. Additionally, the results of this section support the findings of the project and are therefore mentioned within the discussion chapter.

2.3.1 Obtaining Samples

Tissue samples of *L. fluviatilis* and *L. planeri* were obtained from Natural Resources Wales, and the Monarch Genomic DNA Extraction and Purification kit sourced from New England

BioLabs (NEB) was used to extract the DNA. The samples had been preserved and transported in 70% ethanol solution. Prior to travelling to the field site, all in-field equipment was initially soaked in a 10% bleach solution for a minimum of 10 min in a laboratory environment to thoroughly degrade all surface and trace DNA. To create the dilute bleach solution, 100 mL of bleach was poured into a 1 L measuring cylinder. 900 mL of cold tap water was added to the cylinder to produce a 10% mixture. This protocol was also repeated after each sampling event at the laboratory located on the Francis Close Hall campus, Cheltenham. To remove trace DNA from in-field equipment and prevent degradation of target eDNA, the items were removed from the solution and thoroughly rinsed under cold tap water before returning to the fieldwork site. A fresh pair of gloves was worn every time a new sample was collected and cleaned, DNA-free equipment was kept separate from the used items to avoid cross-contamination.

Two water samples were collected at each sampling point. At three of the sampling points, two 1 L water samples were taken from the surface of the stream. At the fourth sampling point two 1 L water samples were taken at a depth approximately 10 cm from the channel bed to allow a comparison of eDNA presence at a range of depths. A clean pair of gloves was worn for every individual water sample to prevent cross contamination between samples. 50 mL of water was drawn into a 50 mL syringe, and a 5 μ m syringe filter (Sartorius) was secured to the top of the syringe before expelling the water. The syringe filter was removed, and this process was repeated until the water was unable to pass through the filter. To assist with maximising the volume of water pushed through the filter, the syringe was placed into a caulking gun and compressed. After noting the volume of water sample filtered the syringe filter was removed and 50 mL of air was drawn into the syringe. This air was then pushed through the filter in order to expel any remaining water trapped within the filter unit. The 50 mL syringe and empty 1 L collection bottle were placed into a bag to keep them separate from DNA-free equipment.

Using a sterile 2 mL syringe, 1 mL of Longmire's preservative buffer solution was pushed all the way through the filter and two sterile locking end caps (luer) were secured onto either side of the filter. Each filter was labelled using the sampling code (Table 2.1) and date before being kept in a clean, separate bag. These steps were repeated for the other 7 water samples using a DNA-free 1 L bottle, fresh gloves, sterile filter, sterile end caps, 50 mL syringe, and 2 mL syringe. A 1 L bottle of filtered water taken to the site each sampling day was also filtered using the method outlined above as the daily filtration control to show no cross contamination occurred during the filtering process. All equipment was transported to and from the site on each sampling day. The filters and equipment were transported back to the laboratory where they were stored in a cold room and kept at 4°C until the DNA was extracted within three weeks of sampling.

2.3.2 DNA Extractions

Using a pipette, the eDNA was removed from within the filters by pushing air through the bottom of the filter and expelling the Longmire's buffer out through the top of the filter. Fresh buffer was pushed through the bottom of the filters to wash the eDNA from the filter membrane. The contents of each filter were collected in a 1.5 mL Eppendorf tube which had been labelled with the corresponding collection date and sampling point code. The same Monarch Genomic DNA Extraction and Purification kit (NEB) was used to extract the eDNA

from the buffer solutions. The solutions underwent the Mammalian Whole Blood extraction and purification protocol (NEB), resulting in a final volume of 100 μ l of each sample.

Skin samples underwent DNA extraction using the Animal Tissue extraction protocol (NEB), where the samples were incubated in a water bath for 1 hour at 56 °C at step three. At 5 min intervals the tubes were removed from the water bath and vortexed for 30 sec to aid with tissue breakup. These extractions similarly resulted in a final volume of 100 μ l. To quantify the extracted tissue sample DNA, 2 μ l was pipetted from each sample onto a Nanodrop (Fisher) that was cleaned between each sample using standard cleaning procedure. Additionally, four of the DNA extracted environmental water samples were selected at random and quantified. The final volume of extracted and purified eDNA was divided, pipetting 25 μ l of the samples into another 1.5 mL Eppendorf so the original tube contained the remaining 75 μ l. This step was taken with all of the extracted samples to prevent the whole sample degrading from repeated freeze-thaw action. All tubes were labelled with the sampling point code and the date of collection. The Eppendorfs containing 25 μ l were kept in the freezer at -20 °C for the entirety of the research project.

2.3.3 PCR and qPCR Testing

Gradient polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was conducted to determine the optimum annealing temperature of primers and probes (Table 2.2). For a 100 pmol/µl solution, primers were rehydrated using DNA-free H₂O (dH₂O). A 100 mM stock concentration of each primer was prepared and diluted to a working concentration of 10 µM. 399 µl dH₂O was pipetted into the forward primer tube and 385 µl into the reverse primer using a Fisherbrand Lite pipette. 5 µl of each reconstituted primer with a concentration of 100 µM was pipetted into 45 µl of dH₂O to create a working stock. 1 µl of 18.6 µg/ml *Lampetra* template DNA was pipetted into five reaction tubes (Table 2.3). 1 µl of dH₂O was pipetted into a reaction tube for the No Template Control (NTC).

Table 2.2 Sequences for the probe, forward and reverse primers tested using a gradien
PCR. The probes correspond to a Lampetra species, and the bold alleles highlight the
position of a Single Nucleotide Polymorphism. Marker length is 83 base pairs.

Primer Sequence 5'-3'	Marker		Probe Sequence 5'-3'	Reference
Forward CACACCTGCAGGGATGATGT	diagLpf	L. fluviatilis	GCCGC C GCCTAATTACTGGA	Souissi et
Reverse CGTAGCACGAGACGATTGTG		L. planeri	GCCGC A GCCTAATTACTGGA	al. 2022

Reagent	Protocol Volume / µl	Final Volume / µl
2x PCRBIO HS Taq Mix	25	200
Forward Primer (10 M)	2	16
Reverse Primer (10 M)	2	16
Template DNA	1	(1 per reaction tube)
PCR Grade dH ₂ O	20	160
Total Volume	50	392

Table 2.3 PCR reaction components, recommended volumes, and final volumes (a maximum of 8 reactions). Final volume of each reaction was 50 µl using primers from Souissi et al. (2022).

The PCR temperatures were set from 60-65 °C using the gradient calculator on a Prime PCR Thermal Cycler (Techne). Before the cycling protocol began, the lid preheated to a temperature of 105 °C for two min. The temperature decreased to 95 °C for a total of one cycle to activate the Hot-Start (HS) Taq Mix. After one cycle, the temperature remained at 95 °C for 15 sec before decreasing to the gradient temperatures for 1 min. The temperature increased to 72 °C for a 10 sec final stage and these stages repeated for 40 consecutive cycles. For the final cycle, the temperature was kept at 72 °C for 10 min before decreasing to a holding temperature of 10 °C. The products were held at 10 °C overnight in the Prime Thermal Cycler.

The PCR protocol outlined above was repeated using two different primer pairs (Table 2.4). Changes to the previous gradient PCR method included a wider temperature range of 55-65 °C and a M.M for a total of 12 reactions (Table 2.5) was produced for both primer pairs. A M.M for this PCR used the same reagents as previously listed (PCRBiosystems). Ten tubes contained 1 μ l of 18.6 μ g/ml *Lampetra* DNA and one reaction tube per pair contained 1 μ l of dH₂O as the NTC. The two primer pairs were tested simultaneously, and all 22 reaction tubes were also held at 10 °C overnight to match the previous PCR experiment.

Gene	Length (bp)	Primer Sequence 5'-3'	Probe Sequence 5'-3'	Reference
CO1	84	Forward GCCTTCCCACGTATAAACAACA Reverse TGCTTCAACTCCTGCGGAA	ACTTCCACCCTCACTCCTTC	Zancolli et al. 2018
ATPase6	90	Forward GCCTTAGCCCACTTATTACCAG Reverse AGGTCGGATGAAAAGGCTAAT	CACCCCAATTGCACTCATCC	Zancolli et al. 2018

Table 2.4 Sequences for the probe, forward and reverse primers tested using gradient PCR.

Reagent	Protocol Volume / µl	Final Volume / µl
2x PCRBIO HS Taq Mix	25	300
Forward Primer (10 M)	2	24
Reverse Primer (10 M)	2	24
Template DNA	1	(1 per reaction tube)
PCR Grade dH ₂ O	20	240
Total Volume	50	588

Table 2.5 PCR reaction components, recommended protocol volumes and the final volume of each reagent. The final volume was 50 μ l per reaction for both sets of Zancolli et al. (2018) primers.

qPCR was conducted for the probes (Table 2.2), labelled 'diagLpf' in the form of a molecular beacon (ThermoFisher Scientific). Included in the molecular beacon for *L. planeri* was the Single Nucleotide Polymorphism (SNP) at position 47. Similarly, for *L. fluviatilis*, the molecular beacon highlighted the same SNP at position 47. A M.M was produced using the reagents listed (PCRBiosystems), and the same primer stock solutions were used for this M.M (Table 2.6). A 1:5 serial dilution was created by pipetting 10 µl of *Lampetra* DNA with a measured concentration of 18.6 µg/ml into 40 µl of dH₂O in a PCR reaction tube. To continue the series, 10 µl of the first dilution was pipetted into a second reaction tube containing 40 µl of dH₂O. This process was repeated to produce a set of 11 serial dilutions and 1 µl of dH₂O was added to a twelfth reaction tube as the NTC. 20 µl of the dilution series was pipetted into the machine (Azure Biosystems). The qPCR protocol consisted of 1 cycle at 95 °C for a total time of 2 min, followed by 40 cycles of 95 °C for 5 sec and was lowered to a temperature of 62 °C for 30 sec. The plate was held at 4 °C overnight in the machine.

Reagent	Protocol Volume / µl	Final Volume / µl
qPCRBIO Probe Blue Mix no ROX	10	140
Forward Primer (10 µM)	0.8	11.2
Reverse Primer (10 µM)	0.8	11.2
Probe (10 µM)	0.4	5.6
Template DNA	1	(1 per reaction tube)
PCR Grade dH ₂ O	7	98
Total Volume	20	266

Table 2.6 PCR reaction components, recommended protocol volumes and the final volume of each reagent (maximum of 14 reactions) on a 96 well qPCR plate.

Similarly, qPCR was also conducted for CO1 and ATPase6 probes (Table 2.7). The probes were rehydrated using dH₂O and ten working stock solutions were created in 1 mL Eppendorf tubes. A M.M was produced for a maximum of 9 reactions per probe using the listed reagents (PCRBiosystems), with 6 serial dilutions and 1 μ l of dH₂O as the NTC. The dilution series was produced in PCR tubes using the same method outlined previously and then pipetted into the top three rows of the qPCR plate to show a comparison between each series. The same protocol was used for this qPCR run as previously listed, however the temperature used for the 40 cycles was 60 °C and again this plate was stored in the machine overnight at 4 °C (Azure Biosystems).

Table 2.7 PCR reaction components, the recommended volume and final reaction volumes
per probe taken from Zancolli et al. (2018). The final volume in each well was 20 µl.

Reagent	Protocol Volume / µl	Final Volume / µl	
qPCRBIO Probe Blue Mix no ROX	10	90	
Forward Primer (10 µM)	0.8	7.2	
Reverse Primer (10 µM)	0.8	7.2	
Probe (10 µM)	0.4	3.6	
Template DNA	1	(1 per reaction tube)	
PCR Grade dH ₂ O	7	63	
Total Volume	20	171	

An initial pilot qPCR assay was conducted to assess the specificity of the ATPase6 primers and probes taken from Zancolli et al. (2018) against genomic DNA. Genomic DNA from L. planeri and L. fluviatilis tissue was standardised to create 20 ug/ml separate stocks of both species. To produce the stock for *L. planeri*, 8 µl of DNA was pipetted into a PCR tube containing 12 µl dH₂O. Similarly, to produce the stock for *L. fluviatilis* 18 µl of DNA was pipetted into a PCR tube containing 2 μ l of dH₂O. Using the standardised stocks, three 1:5 dilution series were produced: one series for L. planeri, one series for L. fluviatilis and a combined series for both species. The combined series was produced by pipetting 10 µl of 10 µg/ml of L. fluviatilis and L. planeri genomic DNA into a PCR tube. Each series consisted of 6 dilutions from 40 µg/ml to 0.0128 µg/ml concentration and were run in duplicate on the 96 well assay plate (Table 2.8). To make the dilutions for each series, 10 µl of the stock was pipetted into a PCR tube containing 40 µl of dH₂O as outlined previously. Additionally, a No-Template Control (NTC) was run alongside each replicate dilution series to ensure no cross contamination occurred during the preparation or amplification steps. The four environmental samples which had been previously quantified using a Nanodrop were also run on the same plate, being tested in triplicate with additional NTCs (Figure 2.4).

Three M.Ms were produced for the *L. planeri*, *L. fluviatilis* and combined series, and a M.M was created for the environmental samples. The M.Ms for the dilution series were made for a maximum of 16 reactions including the NTCs, and the M.M for the environmental samples were made for a maximum of 9 reactions in separate 1.5 mL Eppendorf tubes. 2 μ l of each dilution series and environmental sample was pipetted into the corresponding well. The four random environmental samples had been sampled on the following dates: 03.04.23, 21.04.23, 26.04.23 and 28.04.23 (Figure 2.4). These four samples were run alongside the dilution series to determine if lamprey DNA was present and cross reference the samples against know concentration curves. When each well had a total of 20 μ l, a clear plastic film was stuck on to the plate and pressed down to ensure all wells were sealed tightly. The plate was spun in a centrifuge for 1 min at 1000 rpm before being loaded into the qPCR machine (Azure Biosystems) to ensure all reagents were gathered at the bottom of each well. The protocol for this pilot has been outlined previously. All reagents were kept on ice whilst the M.Ms were prepared to prevent DNA degradation, and were returned to the -20 °C freezer once finished.

Reagent	Protocol Volume / µl	Dilution Series Final Volume / µl	Water Sample Final Volume / µl
qPCRBIO Probe Blue Mix separate ROX	10	160	90
Forward Primer (10 µM)	0.8	12.8	7.2
Reverse Primer (10 µM)	0.8	12.8	7.2
Probe (10 µM)	0.4	6.4	3.6
Template DNA	1	(2 per well)	(2 per well)
PCR Grade dH ₂ O	Top up to total vol	96	54
Total Volume	20	320	180

Table 2.8 Reagent list, recommended volumes, and the final volumes for *L. planeri*, *L. fluviatilis* and combined dilution series. Final volumes for the environmental samples are also outlined.



Figure 2.4 96 well assay plate layout for the pilot qPCR run. Blue) *L. planeri* dilution series replicates, (Red) *L. fluviatilis* series replicates, (Green) Combined DNA series replicates. The orange wells show the layout of the four environmental samples. Wells outlined in black were NTCs.
To optimise the method and create stronger quantification curves, the volume of DNA within the dilution series was doubled from 2 to 4 μ l per well (Table 2.9). This modified the dilution series concentration range to 80 μ g/ml 0.00512 μ g/ml. Additionally, each dilution series was extended by one dilution (Figure 2.5) to allow better comparisons with environmental samples of lower DNA concentrations. Additionally, the volume of environmental sample was also increased to 2 to 7 μ l per well (Table 2.9), increasing the sample concentrations to 238.49, 76.72, 129.71 and 130.06 μ g/ml. This step was changed to reduce the cycle number of the environmental samples for better comparison against the standardised curves. The number of replicates was decreased by one (Figure 2.5) to preserve the volume of remaining sample. For all dilution series replicates the volume of M.M pipetted into each well was 16 μ l and the volume of M.M pipetted into the environmental sample wells was 13 μ l. The steps that followed remained the same as previously outlined.

	Serial dilutions		Environmental samples	
Reagent	Protocol Volume / μl	Final Volume / μl	Protocol Volume / μl	Final Volume / µl
qPCRBIO Probe				
Blue Mix separate ROX	10	180	10	120
Forward Primer (10 µM)	0.8	14.4	0.8	9.6
Reverse Primer (10 µM)	0.8	14.4	0.8	9.6
Probe (10 µM)	0.4	7.2	0.4	4.8
Template DNA	1	(4 per well)	1	(7 per well)
PCR Grade dH ₂ O	Top up to total vol	72	Top up to total vol	12
Total Volume	20	360	20	240

Table 2.9 Reagent list, recommended volumes, and the final volumes for the serial dilutions (maximum of 18 reactions) and environmental samples (maximum of 12 reactions).



Figure 2.5 96 well qPCR assay plate. Blue) *L. planeri* dilution series replicates, (Red) *L. fluviatilis* series replicates, (Green) Combined DNA series replicates. The orange wells show the four environmental samples tested. Wells outlined in black were NTCs.

For the next qPCR run the number of environmental samples was increased to a full plate of 25, allowing for NTCs and replicates. A M.M was created in a 1.5 mL Eppendorf tube for combined DNA dilution series replicates (Table 2.10). The volume of DNA pipetted into each well of the series was decreased from 4 μ l to 2 μ l. Additionally, a M.M was produced in a 2 mL Eppendorf tube for the environmental sample replicates (Table 2.10). Each sample was tested for presence-absence using three replicates for an average and compared against the known concentrations of the dilution series. The volume of sample was decreased from 7 μ l to 2 μ l. Another development for this qPCR assay was the addition of Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA) and Dimethyl Sulfoxide (DMSO). A working stock of BSA was created by weighing out 0.006 g on a fine balance and adding that to 10 mL of dH₂O. This solution was then mixed on a vortex for 30 sec to combine the two components. 18 μ l of M.M was pipetted into each well and 2 μ l of sample was pipetted in after to ensure each well had a total volume of 20 μ l. The protocol followed previous steps.

	Dilution series		25 environmental samples	
Reagent	Protocol Volume / μl	Final Volume / μl	Protocol Volume / µl	Final Volume / μl
qPCRBIO Probe				
Blue Mix separate	10	250	10	800
ROX				
Forward Primer (10	0.8	20	0.8	64
μM) Deverse Drimer (10				
	0.8	20	0.8	64
μινι)			. .	
Probe (10 µM)	0.4	10	0.4	32
Template DNA	1	(2 per well)	1	(2 per well)
BSA	NA	0.5	NA	1.5
DMSO	NA	6.25	NA	18.75
PCR Grade dH ₂ O	Top up to total vol	143.25	Top up to total vol	569.75
Total Volume	20	500	20	1,600

Table 2.10 Reagent list, recommended volumes, and the final volumes for the dilution series and for 25 environmental samples (maximum of 80 reactions).



Figure 2.6 Plate layout for 25 environmental samples with three replicates (blue). Combined *Lampetra* DNA serial dilution replicates (green). NTCs are outlined in black, well A9 was an NTC for the dilution series and well A10 was an NTC for the environmental samples.

Due to poor amplification curves in the previous qPCR run, five random negative environmental samples were chosen from the previous assay plate of 25 to undergo testing to check whether PCR inhibitors were present in the samples (Figure 2.7). These five samples were collected: 07.04.23, 10.04.23, 12.04.23, 17.04.23 and 26.04.23. The samples were spiked with 1.6 µg/ml of combined *Lampetra* DNA. 2 µl of the 8 ug dilution series sample was pipetted into 8 µl of a chosen environmental sample to make the final concentration of DNA 1.6 µg/ml. This step was repeated for the other four environmental samples. Two combined DNA dilution series were run alongside the five samples with the addition of a lower dilution, increasing the range of concentration 40 µg/ml to 0.000512 µg/ml to allow for improved comparisons between the standards and environmental samples. Each spiked sample was tested in triplicate and the dilution series were tested in duplicate. The reagent volumes were the same for both the dilution series and spiked environmental sample M.Ms which were pipetted into 1.5 mL Eppendorf tubes (Table 2.11). The protocol temperatures and timings were kept identical to the previous runs; however, the number of cycles was increased from 40 to 45 in order to extend the amplification curves produced by the environmental samples.

Reagent	Protocol Volume / µl	Final Volume / µl
qPCRBIO Probe Blue Mix separate ROX	10	200
Forward Primer (10 µM)	0.8	16
Reverse Primer (10 µM)	0.8	16
Probe (10 µM)	0.4	8
Template DNA	1	(2 per well)
BSA	NA	0.4
DMSO	NA	6
PCR Grade dH ₂ O	Top up to total vol	113.6
Total Volume	20	400

Table 2.11 Reagent list, recommended volumes, and the final volumes for the combined DNA dilution series replicates and spiked samples (maximum of 20 reactions for the standards and samples).



Figure 2.7 Plate layout of five spiked negative environmental samples tested in triplicate (purple), and a duplicate dilution series of combined *Lampetra* DNA (green). The well outlined in black was the NTC.

2.3.4 Final qPCR Protocol

The final iteration of the qPCR method was used to test the remaining environmental samples. A duplicate dilution series with a total 8 standards was pipetted at the top of each subsequent plate in rows A and B. All plates with a total of 25 samples had the same layout as the initial plate (Figure 2.6). Additionally, the only change to the M.M volumes of reagents was an increase from 2 μ l to 4 μ l of sample and standard in each reaction well to ensure a higher chance of detecting DNA present, all other volumes were kept the same (Table 2.10). The M.Ms for the dilution series was produced in 1.5 mL Eppendorf tubes and the M.Ms for the samples were created in 2 mL Eppendorf tubes. For the samples that resulted in neither a clear positive or negative, for example a higher quantification cycle (Cq) value or an early fluorescence plateau, a second set of replicates were tested on the final assay plate. In total, two pilot qPCR assays were used to optimise the primers and probe, one assay plate was used to test for inhibition and the remaining six plates tested environmental samples.

2.3.5 Agarose Gel

PCR amplicons were visualised on a 2% agarose gel was produced to determine optimum annealing temperature. 100 mL of a 1 x Tris Acetate EDTA (TAE) running buffer solution was made by diluting 10 mL of 10 x TAE buffer into 90 mL of distilled H₂O in a measuring cylinder. A fresh solution of 1 x TAE buffer was produced on the day of each gel electrophoresis. The TAE solution was decanted into a 200 mL flask and 2 g of dry research-grade agarose powder (ThermoFisher Scientific) was added into the flask. The flask was heated at 900 W for 15 sec periods in a microwave, removed and shaken until all agarose powder dissolved and there were no air bubbles remaining. The solution was left to cool until all steaming ceased before 10 µl of Sybr Safe red gel stain (ThermoFisher Scientific) was pipetted into the flask and gently mixed. 10 µl was the recommended volume of gel stain.

2.3.6 Gel Electrophoresis

Two rubber seals were fitted to each open end of the dock to ensure that the gel solution remained inside. An 8 well gel comb was placed at one end of the dock to test the six reaction tubes for Souissi et al. (2022) and the gel solution was poured in. Air bubbles in the solution were removed gently using a sterile pipette tip. Whilst the gel was setting, 600 mL of 1 x TAE buffer was prepared using the previous method in a 1 L flask. Once set, the gel comb and rubber seals were removed before the gel dock was placed into the gel tank. The TAE buffer solution was added to the gel tank up to the maximum fill indicator line. To confirm the expected PCR amplificon had been amplified, the amplicons were compared with a 50-150 base pair (bp) ladder. 10 μ l of purple loading dye was pipetted and mixed into each of the reaction tubes by drawing the product into the pipette tip and expelling it several times. 20 μ l of each PCR product was pipetted into a well until all reaction tube products had been loaded onto the gel and the tank lid was secured.

20 μ I of NTC was pipetted into the final well as a negative control. The gel was run at 110 V for 30 min and placed in a gel scanner (Azure Biosystems). After primer optimisation, the probes taken from Souissi et al. (2022) underwent qPCR and these products were run through gel electrophoresis. This gel was produced as outlined previously; however, the larger gel dock was used with a 16 well gel comb to test 12 qPCR reactions. The same 50-150 bp ladder and loading dye volumes were used as listed above. The loading dye was pipetted into the reaction wells of the qPCR 96-well assay plate. 40 μ I of each qPCR product was pipetted into each well and was similarly run for 30 min at 110 V before being scanned on the gel scanner.

Methods as previously described were repeated for all primer pairs but with the following modifications for the Zancolli et al. (2018) primers. A larger gel dock was used for these primers to allow electrophoresis of each pair to occur simultaneously. Additionally, two 16 well gel combs were placed into the large gel dock- one located at the top of the dock, the other situated in the middle of the dock to form two equally spaced rows of wells. To confirm the expected PCR amplificon had been amplified, the amplicons were compared with a 100-1000 bp ladder. This gel was run for 45 min at 110 V to allow the bands to move through at least 50 % of the gel length. The gel was removed from the tank and transferred to the gel scanner.

2.3.7 Sequencing

Positive qPCR products representative of environmental water samples were retained; these were cleaned using a Qiaquick PCR purification kit (Qiagen, N.V.) quantified using a Qubit 4.0 (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and sent to Source Bioscience UK for Sanger sequencing. The amplicons were derived from samples collected during April sampling. The sequence data were visualized, checked for miscalls and aligned using MEGA version 10.0.4 (Kumar et al., 2018). Sequences were then compared to *Lampetra sp.* sequence on the National Centre for Biotechnology database using the basic local alignment search tool (https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi) to confirm the presence of the target species.

3. Results

3.1 Physical Characteristics Analysis

The flow of the stream at the field site varied between the sampling points. The velocity at sampling point 1 was faster (0.201 m/s) compared to sampling point 2 which had a slower velocity of 0.054 m/s (Table 3.1). Sampling point 4 had the slowest velocity of all the points with a rate of 0.02 m/s (Table 3.1). Water temperature across the sampling points differed, with sampling point 4 producing the lowest measurement (9.4 °C). This was compared to sampling point 1 which was recorded as the warmest point (9.8 °C). Across the sampling points, table 3.1 showed the pH was most alkaline at point 4 (8.04). The pH remained the same at points 2 and 3 (8.01), however the pH became more neutral at sampling point 1 (7.95). Water at sampling point 4 had the highest DO content (12.06 ppm) of all sampling points (Table 3.1). Additionally, sampling points 1 and 3 shared similar DO contents (9.72 and 9.83 ppm respectively), with little difference between the two points. Sampling point 2 had the second highest DO content when compared to the rest of the points, with a concentration of 10.07 ppm (Table 3.1).

Sampling Point	Temperature (°C)	рН	DO (ppm)	Flow (m/s)
1	9.8	8.04	9.72	0.201
2	9.7	8.01	10.07	0.054
3	9.6	8.01	9.83	0.122
4	9.4	7.95	12.06	0.020

Table 3.1 Physical characteristic averages taken on 28.04.2023 at each of the sampling points at Soudley Ponds, Cinderford.

3.2 Grain Size Analysis

Figure 3.1 showed that the sampling point with the highest percentage of larger grain sediments was point 1; the results from this showed that 51% of the sample consisted of grains 16-8 mm in diameter, compared to sampling points 3 and 4 which showed 19% and 29% respectively (Figure 3.1). The sampling point with the lowest percentage of larger grains was point 2. At sampling point 2, the percentage of grains 16-8 mm in diameter present at was 0% (Figure 3.1). Sampling point 2 also had the lowest percentage of grains 8-4 mm in diameter (6%) but showed a high percentage of mid-sized grains 4-2 mm in diameter (23%). These results were compared to sampling points 1 and 4, which both had higher percentages of medium grains (15% and 20% respectively). Sediment of that size is often described as granules (USDA, 2023). To contrast, sampling point 2 had the highest percentage of small grains, with 33% of grains 2-1 mm in diameter and 38% of grains less than 1 mm (Figure 3.1). Sampling point 1 had the smallest percentages of small grains; for example, 3% of grains less than 1 mm in diameter (Figure 3.1). When comparing the contents of each sediment sample, figure 3.1 showed that the sampling point with the most

even percentage distribution was point 4. Point 4 had the most similar percentages for all grain sizes tested in comparison to sampling point 2 which had was composed mainly of smaller grains.



Figure 3.1 Bedload sediment distribution for sample 1 (A), sample 2 (B), sample 3 (C) and sample 4 (D). Distribution was calculated using a sieve cascade. Colours indicate sediment types, with the coarsest as dark grey and the finest as pale yellow.

Similarly to the sieve cascade results, figure 3.2 showed that sampling point 1 had the highest percentage of large particles. For example, point 1 had the highest percentage of particles 0.5 microns in diameter (17%). Particles of these sizes are known as coarse sand (USDA, 2023). When comparing the sampling points, point 2 showed the highest percentages of grains 2-1 mm and less than 1 mm in diameter (Figure 3.2). Over two thirds (71%) of grains in the sediment sample taken from point 2 were 2 mm in diameter or less (Figure 3.2). Particle analysis also showed that point 2 had the highest volume of fine sand particles of all sampling points with 44% (Figure 3.2). It can be seen from figure 3.2 that point 3 had a higher percentage of larger particles such as coarse and medium sand (9.5% and 30% respectively) when compared to sampling point 4 (2% and 22%). According to





Figure 3.2 Percentage of Sand:Silt:Clay grains for each sampling point measured using a Granulometer 2000 (Malvern Panalytical).

When categorising the bedload sediment based on particle sizes, point 1 was described as a sandy substrate (Figure 3.3). The spectroscopy analysis of sampling point 1 reflected the data shown in figure 3.1, further promoting point 1 as a suitable habitat for spawning individuals based on the abundance of larger particles. This result was key to determining the category of bedload sediment as sampling point 2 was also described as sand (Figure 3.3). As the same description was used to describe sampling points 1 and 2, it was determined that the two samples showed the most similar silt:clay particle ratio of all samples shown by the proximity of the data points (Figure 3.3). The difference in the percentages across the range of particle sizes can be observed in figure 3.3, where there is a distinct separation between points 3 and 4 based on the ratios of sand:silt:clay. Sampling point 3 was classed as loamy sand bedload, whereas point 4 was located on the border between loamy sand and sandy loam. Sampling point 4 had the highest ratios of silt and clay particles compared with the other samples (Figure 3.3). Additionally, sampling point 4 had higher percentages for the smaller particles measuring between 0.125-0.0001 microns in diameter.



Figure 3.3 Bedload sediment classification of four samples from Soudley Ponds. Percentages were determined using a Granulometer 2000 (Malvern Panalytical). Sediment categories are based on the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) classification system.

3.3 Gel Electrophoresis Analysis

CO1 primers taken from Zancolli et al. (2018) showed positive amplification of the *Lampetra* target amplicon, with bright banding visible across the entire temperature range of 55-65 °C (Figure 3.4a). The bands were shown to correspond to the 84 base pair (bp) fragment length on the 100-1000 base ladder. Bands at temperatures 55, 56 and 60 °C had the strongest fluorescence of all the temperatures tested using the CO1 primer pair (Figure 3.4a). ATPase6 primers also showed positive amplification of the target amplicon, with little visible difference between the bands (Figure 3.4b). All bands were located at the expected fragment position, in line with the 90 bp length on the same 100-1000 base DNA ladder. The No-Template Control (NTC) for the ATPase6 primers showed less primer-dimer fluorescence than the CO1 primer pair (Figure 3.4b).



Figure 3.4 Gel of gradient PCR used to test optimum annealing temperatures with a temperature range of 55 - 65 °C. A) CO1 primers and (B) ATPase6 primers. Both sets of primer were taken from Zancolli et al. (2018).

Each environmental sample tested on a gel showed positive amplification for the target amplicon using the ATPase6 primers (Figure 3.5). All bands aligned with 90 bp on the 100-1000 base ladder, which was the expected length of the amplified fragments. There appeared to be variation in the strength of the bands, with sample 4b (well 2) having the weakest fluorescence and sample 4a (well 5) having the strongest fluorescence (Figure 3.5). The NTC did show possible non-specific binding as fluorescence can be seen on the gel at well 6, with an initial band followed by a second in line with the environmental samples.



Figure 3.5 Gel of environmental water sample positive qPCR products. Well 1) collected 12.04.2023, (Well 2) collected 28.04.2023, (Well 3) collected 21.04.2023, (Well 4) collected 26.04.2023, (Well 5) collected 21.04.2023, (Well 6) No Template Control and (Well 7) Positive Control.

3.4 qPCR Presence-Absence

The results from the qPCR inhibitor test determined that there were no in PCR inhibitors present within the extracted and purified DNA (Figure 3.6). Spiked samples showed positive detections for all replicates. The quantification of cycles (Cq) values matched the third serial dilution at a concentration of 1.6 μ g/ml (Figure 3.6). Figure 3.7a showed a successful qPCR assay from a plate of 25 environmental samples alongside a 1:5 dilution series. The replicate amplification curves for dilutions 1-6 showed matching Cq values, indicating the concentration of *Lampetra* DNA was standardised across those replicates (Figure 3.7a). The lower concentration dilutions (0.00512 and 0.001024 μ g/ml) showed a larger difference in Cq value between the replicates. Environmental sample curves started from cycle 35 and were compared to the eighth dilution in the series (Figure 3.7a). A standard curve from the same qPCR assay showed the quantity of *Lampetra* DNA in relation to the Cq value of each pair of serial dilutions (Figure 3.7b). This showed a higher quantity of DNA resulted in a lower Cq value. For example, the first dilution pair had a concentration of 40 μ g/ml and a Cq value of 36, whereas the final dilution pair had a concentration of 40 μ g/ml and a Cq value of 16 (Figure 3.7b).

There was no *Lampetra* eDNA detected at the sampling points between 03.04.23 and 17.04.23 (Figure 3.8a). On 19.04.23, points 1 and 2 showed 83% positive detection for *Lampetra* eDNA, and points 3 and 4 showed 100% positive detection (Figure 3.8b). Total number of positive replicates for points 1 and 2 was five, and the total number of positive replicates for points 3 and 4 was six (Figure 3.8b). On 21.04.23, sampling points 1 and 3 showed 67% positive detection of *Lampetra* eDNA with four positive replicates out of six (Figure 3.8c). Sampling point 2 remained unchanged from the previous sampling day with an 83% positive detection of *Lampetra* presence with six positive replicates (Figure 3.8c). Figure 3.8d shows that on 24.04.23, the number of positive replicates for sampling point 1

increased from four to six, with 100% positive detection. The number of positive replicates at sampling points 2, 3, and 4 all decreased from the previous day, with point 3 showing the lowest positive detections of 34% (Figure 3.8d). At the end of the fieldwork season, the presence of *Lampetra* eDNA fell to 17% for all four sampling points across the site and only one replicate at each point showed positive detection (Figures 3.8e and 3.9).



Figure 3.6 qPCR assay results from a PCR inhibitors check using a real-time qPCR machine (Azure Biosystems).



Figure 3.7 A) qPCR assay results showing the amplification of target amplicons in 25 environmental water samples compared with a 1:5 dilution series of genomic *L. planeri* and *L. fluviatilis* DNA and (B) Dilution series standard curve from the same qPCR analysis. All analysis was conducted on real-time qPCR machine (Azure Biosystems).



Figure 3.8 A) Map highlighting the presence of *Lampetra* eDNA at each sampling point for water samples collected from the 03.04.2023 to the 17.04.2023, (B) Presence on the 19.04.2023, (C) Presence on the 21.04.2023, (D) Presence on the 24.04.2023 and (E) Presence on the 26.04.2023 and 28.04.2023 (the same for both days).

No positive amplification detections occurred between 03.04.23 and 17.04.23 (Figure 3.9), which implied an absence of *Lampetra* eDNA at the field site. Positive detections were only recorded on the final five sampling days of the fieldwork season. Results showed a spike in positive amplification on 19.04.23, with a median of 5 positive reactions for the sampling points on that date. The 19.04.23 samples had the highest number of positive detections of all sampling days across the fieldwork season and showed presence of *Lampetra* eDNA throughout the sampling site (Figure 3.9). Additionally, qPCR results from the 21.04.23 showed a higher number of positive wells than the 03.04.23 to the 17.04.23. There was an overall decrease in the median of positive wells (4) compared to the 19.04.23. The number of positive detections decreased again on the 24.04.23, with a median of 3.5. For the final two sampling days on the 26.04.23 and 28.04.23, the median number of positive wells was 1. Each sampling point on these days resulted in one positive well out of a maximum of six, showing a large decrease in detections compared with previous sampling days (Figure 3.9). DNA sequencing showed that a 41bp sequence was a 100% match to *L. planeri, L. fluviatilis* and *Lampetra* species.



Figure 3.9 Box and Whisker plot showing the number of positive wells per sampling day. The top line represents the upper quartile, the mid-line represents the median, the bottom line shows the lower quartile, and the bars show the range.

Precipitation rates during April can be variable, often resulting in changes to the physical characteristics of a field site. During the fieldwork season, the highest volume of water sample filtered was 1 L and the lowest volume of sample filtered was 850 mL (Figure 3.10). This can be seen in figure 3.10, as there were no results for volumes 0-700 mL. There was a single positive amplification detection for the lowest volume of environmental water sample filtered (850 mL), compared to 16 positive detections for 900 mL of filtered water sample.

44

The highest number of 48 positive detections occurred when the entirety of the 1 L environmental water sample was filtered (Figure 3.10).



Figure 3.10 Line graph showing the number of positive amplification detections compared with the volume of environmental water sample filtered.

4. Discussion

4.1 Grain Size and Physical Characteristics

Previous studies have described the physical characteristics and bedload sediment composition required for Lampetra spawning in European rivers (Clemens et al., 2016). Each sediment fraction within the range of sizes plays an important role in the spawning process (Aronsuu and Tertsunen, 2015). For example, larger grains such as pebbles or gravel must be present in order for male Lampetra to build redds (Table 4.1). These redds are used to attract female Lampetra and encourage spawning (Zvezdin et al., 2017). Section 3.2 showed that the sampling point with the highest percentage of larger grain sediments was point 1; these grains can be described as medium gravel according to the USDA classification system. Medium gravel is a larger sediment size compared to silt or clay particles; however, research has shown that sediment of varying sizes is needed for optimum Lampetra spawning (Oliveira et al., 2022). From the findings shown section 3.2, it was determined that sampling point 1 would be well suited to support the sediment requirements of Lampetra spawning events. It has been found previously that both L. fluviatilis and L. planeri share many bedload sediment requirements for spawning and this can often result in the two species sharing many of the same spawning habitats (Decanter et al., 2023). Although no individuals were sighted during the fieldwork season, based on the findings of section 3.2, it was determined that suitable spawning habitats were present at the field site.

 Table 4.1 Optimum physical characteristics and particle size for each stage of Lampetra sp.

 life cycle.

Physical Characteristics	Particle / Grain Size	Life Stage Suitability
Increased Flow Rate Decreased Stream Depth	8 - 16 mm	Nest Construction
Increased Flow Rate Decreased Stream Depth	0.0001 microns - 16 mm	Spawning
Increased Flow Rate Decreased Stream Depth	0.125 microns - 2 mm	Egg Deposition
Increased Flow Rate Decreased Stream Depth	0.125 microns - 2 mm	Hatching
Increased Flow Rate Decreased Stream Depth	0.0001 - 0.5 microns	Downstream Migration
Decreased Flow Rate Increased Stream Depth	0.0001 microns - 1 mm	Ammocoete Burrows
Decreased Flow Rate Increased Stream Depth	0.0001 microns - 1 mm	Metamorphosis
Decreased Flow Rate Increased Stream Depth	4 - 16 mm	Upstream Migration

When considering the results of section 3.2, it was important to consider the range of grain sizes present at each sampling point. Data from points 1, 3, and 4 showed a more varied range of sediment sizes when compared to sampling point 2. In particular the percentage of medium and fine gravel, which are the preferred grain sizes for spawning, were higher at these points in comparison. This could provide adult Lampetra with a larger number of potential spawning sites and reduce resource competition or hybridisation (Docker, 2009). To contrast, sampling point 2 showed a complete absence of medium gravel and had the smallest percentage of fine gravel grains 8-4 mm in diameter. This lack of relatively larger sediments may have made this location less desirable to upstream migrating Lampetra (Table 4.1). It is possible however, that grains 4-2 mm in diameter at sampling point 2 may have provided enough anchoring weight for smaller L. planeri individuals during mating and upstream migration. This could make point 2 a suitable spawning habitat for small L. planeri individuals and again reduce possible resource competition or hybridisation (Akat et al., 2022). Migrating individuals may have continued further upstream in search of more suitable spawning sites. Lampreys are known to make several passes through a site during the migration season in order to locate the most optimum spawning substrate. Additionally, Lampetra are known to lack spawning site fidelity and therefore may not return inland via the same route as previously attempted (Davies et al., 2022).

Overall, sampling point 1 was described as sandy (USDA, 2023), which implied that this location would be beneficial for spawning Lampetra based on the larger particles present. Similarly, the percentage of 1 mm grains found at point 1 were much lower than any other sampling point. When comparing the percentages of 1 mm grains to the particle percentages, point 1 had the highest percentage of larger fine particles than points 2, 3, or 4. The fine faction of the sediment (less than 1 mm that was measured using laser spectroscopy) from this research also showed variation across the sampling points. Although male Lampetra require larger sediments for constructing redds, smaller sediments also play a key role in the spawning process. In order to overcome egg drift and possible predation, eggs are released with an adhesive coating that enables small grains to attach to the surface of each egg and weigh them down (Yorke and McMillan, 1979). Once the eggs become coated, they sink to the bottom of the water column and become safely lodged between larger substrate or vegetation (Staponkus and Kesminas, 2014). The high percentage of fine particles present at point 2 could potentially increase the number of successful egg hatchings. This may also increase the number of Lampetra individuals surviving to adulthood, which would be advantageous for vulnerable species such as these. Previous research detailed the need for both large and fine sediments at Lampetra spawning sites (Table 4.1). The results of section 3.2 indicated that sampling points 1, 3, and 4 met these criteria.

According to section 3.2, sampling point 2 had the largest percentage of small grains of all the points. The high percentage of smaller grains could make point 2 more desirable to female Lampetra individuals. Females prefer spawning sites with a number of small grains such as sand present as this can aid in egg protection (Fissette et al., 2021). When considering the habitat requirements of Lampetra species, it is important to acknowledge that these differ between the adults and the offspring. Particles of less than 1 mm are required by lampreys in the early ammocoete and juvenile life stages (Almeida et al., 2002). From the findings, it was determined that sampling point 2 had the highest percentage of smaller grains; therefore, providing the most suitable nursery habitat at the field site. Previous studies have found that sites which are able to support both spawning events and provide nursery habitats such as the Forest of Dean, are ecologically important for the two Lampetra species (Quintella et al., 2007). Both Lampetra species have been recognised as vulnerable within European legislation, with anthropogenic influences being the main threat to these species (Shephard et al., 2019). Locating field sites with both spawning and nursery habitat present is key in supporting Lampetra populations, which have suffered a decline in numbers as a result of habitat fragmentation or loss (Lecaudey et al., 2019).

Understanding how physical characteristics of a stream impact the bedload sediment size fractions is important. These characteristics can be classed as optimum or undesirable for *Lampetra* spawning. Section 3.1 showed variations in physical characteristics across the sampling points, specifically when focusing on temperature and velocity. A stream's velocity can have a large impact on sediment erosion, transportation, and deposition throughout a freshwater catchment (White, 1990). Findings from section 3.1 showed a higher velocity at sampling points 1 and 3. Water in streams with a higher flow rate have an increased carrying capacity, which helps with the lamprey fertilisation and larval drift processes (Pratt et al., 2021). Increased mixing of the gametes occurs naturally when the flow rate is faster, compared with the slower rates measured at sampling points 2 and 4 (Kholodnyy et al., 2020). Additionally, the faster the flow rate, the less metabolic cost is required by ammocoetes to locate suitable nursery habitat as they can drift on the currents (Maitland,

1980). Sites with high flow velocities are favourable for *Lampetra* spawning as the smaller, lighter grains remain suspended and transported downstream (Naidu, 2020). This leaves the larger grains at the fast flow habitats which are a fundamental requirement for lamprey redd construction (Oliveira et al., 2022). Sampling point 1 had the fastest flow rate of all points and this correlated with the high percentage of larger grains present.

In addition, a decrease in water flow rate enables smaller grains suspended within the water column to descend and accumulate over time on the stream bed (Gerolin et al., 2020). The reduction in flow observed at sampling points 2 and 4 could account for the higher percentages of smaller grains found at these points. The velocity of the stream at sampling point 4 was the slowest stream flow at the site by 0.034 m/s. When determining the most suitable habitat for lamprey spawning, section 3.1 suggested that point 4 would be desirable in terms of bedload composition. Comparing results from sections 3.1 and 3.2, it could be determined that the decrease in flow rate at sampling point 4 enabled the accumulation of fine particles necessary for Lampetra nursery habitat. Additionally, the decrease could also promote an accumulation of larger grains as the potential carrying capacity was reduced. Sampling point 4 was located at a sharp meander of the stream which had resulted in the formation of a stream pool. Stream pools are known to exhibit an above average depth compared to the rest of the stream, and a below average flow rate (Paudel et al., 2021). The carrying capacity of the stream may have been too low for any sediment transportation downstream of point 4, resulting in the most even distribution of grain size percentages out of all sampling points. The slower velocity may have also accounted for the increase in silt and clay particles found at point 4.

Habitats with higher percentages of silt and clay are the most suitable nursery environments for Lampetra ammocoetes and juveniles post spawning (Negro et al., 2021). Unlike the heavier grains seen at the start of section 3.2, the lighter particles observed do not undergo compaction. A higher number of fine particles are required for compaction to occur, whereas larger grains such as gravel or pebbles compact more quickly. This is due to the weight of the surface grains pushing down on the sediment layers beneath (Dasgupta et al., 2020). Lighter particles are able to remain free and uncompacted which allows Lampetra ammocoetes and juveniles to burrow easily into the softer habitats found within the stream bed. Juveniles of both Lampetra species require burrows for filter feeding and protection from predators (Quintella et al., 2007). Juveniles remain in these nursery burrows until they complete the final metamorphosis to become adults, highlighting the need for silt and clay particles (Moser et al., 2007). Nursery habitats are equally as important to spawning sites as they provide a source of nutrition and protection for the Lampetra juveniles, which are required to undergo larval drift in order to search for these types of habitats (Maitland, 1980). Other studies have found that the optimum spawning habitats would be in close proximity to nursery habitats. This would support both mating individuals and their offspring (Bracken et al., 2019).

When discussing the effects of physical characteristics on lamprey spawning, it is necessary to consider the influence of temperature. Lampreys have well described patterns of behaviour during the final ten-month period of their life cycle. During these last ten months they undergo a migration and spawning event before dying (Jubb et al., 2023). Water temperature is a stimulus for individuals to begin migrating inland in search of spawning and nursery sites (Boulêtreau et al., 2020). For example, a decrease in water temperature after the summer months signifies the start of the migration season from October to February.

Additionally, the reverse is true for the spawning season when temperatures increase after the winter months from April to July (Baer et al., 2018). According to section 3.1, the average temperature at the field site on the final sampling day (9.6 °C) could reflect the increase in water temperature from the winter months. This would be a key trigger for male *Lampetra* to begin constructing redds for mating (Heath et al., 2021). Sampling point 4 had the lowest average water temperature compared to the other points, which may be a result of increased water depth. Previous studies have outlined a negative trend between water depth and water temperature, where water temperature decreases as the depth increases (Morales-Marín et al., 2019).

This trend was somewhat reflected at sampling point 4 where there was a difference in temperature of 0.2 °C. Similarly, studies have determined that the warmest water is found at the top of the water column and the coolest water is at the bottom (Jimenez et al., 2008). Sampling points 1, 2, and 3 had a higher average water temperature which may have been a result of those points being shallower than point 4. Another possible reason for the difference in average water temperature is the understanding that temperatures are more evenly distributed in shallow water (Cyr, 2020). This is due to increased mixing between the layers in the water column. In deeper water bodies such as lakes or ponds, a thermocline is created which divides the warmer water at the surface from the colder water below (Lofton et al., 2022). Water velocity can similarly influence water temperature by reducing stratification between the temperature layers. As can be seen in section 3.1, points 1 and 3 were shallow with higher velocities than sampling point 4. This potentially caused the difference in water temperatures due increased mixing. Point 4 was much deeper with a decreased velocity resulting in less mixing between the temperatures and creating a slightly colder habitat.

Overall, it could be determined from section 3.2 that three of the four sampling points (1, 3, and 4) had grain sizes required for *Lampetra* spawning. Physical characteristics are similarly known to influence both the temporal and spatial distribution of *Lampetra* spawning (Negro et al., 2023). These characteristics are known to play a large role in the spawning of migratory species, specifically the water flow and depth of a stream (Liu et al., 2021). The results of this section revealed that the sediment and physical characteristics of sampling point 2 were not as desirable for *Lampetra* spawning as the other points. This sampling point could be better suited as a nursery habitat which is equally as important for *Lampetra* species; therefore, the identification of these sediments is advantageous to the restoration of *Lampetra* populations (Lecaudey et al., 2019).

4.2 Gradient Polymerase Chain Reaction Analysis

Although the No-Template Controls (NTCs) for both the CO1 and ATPase6 primers were negative, potential primer-dimer binding occurred during the PCR process. This was represented by faint banding in the final well of both gels shown in section 3.3. These wells should have been completely free from *Lampetra* DNA as a result of using DNA-free H₂O. Non-specific binding often occurs when the primers bind to any genomic DNA present within the reaction (Jansson and Hedman, 2019). The very dull bands were non-specific as they did not align on the gel with the *Lampetra* samples. Similarly, the two NTC bands were not positioned with the target amplicon bands on the DNA ladders. The genomic DNA may have contaminated the reactions via a range of sources. For example, the pipette used when

producing the M.Ms or when loading the PCR products onto the gel (Minich et al., 2019). When conducting the literature review, there was no evidence of real-life application or optimisation of the CO1 or APTase6 primers taken from Zancolli et al. (2018). This lack of optimisation may have resulted in reduced sensitivity of the primers. This could have enabled them to bind to genomic DNA present that was not associated with the *Lampetra* target amplicon (Garafutdinov et al., 2020).

Although Zancolli et al. (2018) designed both forward and reverse primer sequences, a lack of testing meant there were no recommendations for primer optimisation. A large temperature range was chosen to test optimum annealing temperatures for both primer pairs (Section 3.3). This range was based on similar temperatures used in previous PCR research (Valentini and Pompa, 2016). Following the results of the gradient PCR, the ATPase6 primer pair were chosen to test the environmental samples for *Lampetra* eDNA presence-absence. This pair of primers showed less primer-dimer and non-specific binding when compared to the CO1 primer pair (Section 3.3). Additionally, the ATPase6 pair showed better thermal flexibility which was advantageous when conducting qPCR assays. Much of the literature recommended a 10 °C difference in annealing temperature between the primers and probe during qPCR testing (Hunter et al., 2017).

4.3 Methodology Optimisation

A review of the most current laboratory methodologies for determining presence-absence using qPCR was conducted ahead of the fieldwork season. Recommendations from studies such as Zancolli et al. (2018) and Weldon et al. (2020) provided a starting methodology for assay protocol and reagent volumes for environmental samples. Initial pilots were conducted to determine the efficiency of the ATPase6 probe binding to *Lampetra* eDNA using known concentrations and serial dilutions (Section 2.3.3). The results of the pilot assay concluded that the probe taken from Zancolli et al. (2018) was able to bind effectively to the *Lampetra* DNA present in the dilution series. The probe similarly bound to *Lampetra* eDNA present in the four quantified environmental samples. Samples from 03.04.23 showed no amplification, however amplification occurred for samples collected on 21.04.23, 26.04.23 and 28.04.23. Results of the four environmental samples reflected the pattern of eDNA presence for the remaining samples, as no positive amplification occurred from water filtered before the 19.04.23.

Additionally, the results of the pilot showed that the combined *L. fluviatilis* and *L. planeri* dilution series had the most similar quantification cycle (Cq) values for each replicate. This was in comparison to the separate *L. fluviatilis* and *L. planeri* dilution series. A Cq value is the fractional number of cycles required for the fluorescence of each well to increase above threshold level, which can therefore be measured by the machine (Ruiz-Villalba et al., 2021). Readings below the threshold are classed as background or baseline fluorescence and may result from non-specific binding within samples (Campion and Loughran, 2021). When determining the most effective qPCR assay reagent volumes for detecting the presence of the *Lampetra* species, the recommended volumes and cycle programme were used for the pilot plate (Section 2.3.3). A second pilot was used with minor changes to the volume of DNA in each reaction of the dilution series to optimise the Cq range of the reactions (Section 2.3.3). Through increasing the volume of sample in the reactions, the concentration of DNA was also increased. This resulted in the Cq value for each serial dilution being decreased by

2 cycles. This small change increased the amplification efficiency, as evidenced by the exponential fluorescence detected sooner by the machine within the qPCR protocol (Ruijter et al., 2021).

Previous qPCR research has shown that Cq values can be linked to the number of target amplicon copies within the reaction wells. In addition, the higher the copy number, the lower the number of cycles required for enough product to surpass the threshold (Pancza et al., 2021). Cq values are a representation of the sensitivity of the probe in relation to the quantification cycle threshold. If the Cq values are lower, the amplicon has been detected earlier into the assay protocol (Khoury and Tran, 2020). Further optimisation occurred for the first full assay of 25 environmental samples tested, each with three replicates (Section 2.3.3). Three replicates were chosen to ensure there was a deciding factor if the replicate results were divided into one negative and one positive. BSA was added to the M.M as a measure to supress the effect of any PCR inhibitors within the environmental samples and enhance the specificity of secondary structure region amplification (Wong et al., 2020). DMSO was added to improve the strand separation of C-G rich regions within the DNA present (Carvalho et al., 2021). The addition of both reagents was used to improve the efficiency of the qPCR process. Despite reducing the volume of sample per reaction, this was still a higher volume than the recommended (Section 2.3.3).

On the first full assay plate, none of the environmental samples showed amplification despite the addition of BSA and DMSO. Negative amplification within environmental samples can be caused by a multitude of factors, such as target amplicon concentration being below the limit of detection or the complete absence of target amplicon (Thomas et al., 2020). The presence of PCR inhibitors can similarly affect the results of qPCR assays and are usually captured on filter membranes alongside eDNA (Hallam et al., 2021). Inhibition occurs during PCR when compounds such as tannins and humic acid cause a reduction in the activity of DNA polymerases. Similarly, these compounds can bind to nucleic acids or change the composition of preservative buffer solutions (Borchardt et al., 2021). In addition, inhibitor compounds can specifically affect qPCR assays by quenching the fluorescence of the dyes. These dyes are functional components that bind to the target DNA during the annealing stage of the protocol (Lance and Guan, 2020). During the DNA extraction process, the presence of inhibiting compounds should have been removed at the purification stage by remaining on the column membrane. Five of the negative samples were chosen randomly to be spiked with known concentrations of extracted Lampetra DNA in order to test for inhibition (Section 2.3.3).

Section 3.3 showed that there was no inhibition of amplification in the environmental samples and therefore those samples resulted in a true absence of *Lampetra* eDNA. After conducting further environmental sample assays, it was determined that the results from the first full plate of samples matched the presence-absence pattern of the rest of the samples. When testing for inhibition, the protocol was changed by increasing the total number of cycles (Section 2.3.3). The increase to 45 cycles was added to provide clearer amplification curves for environmental samples with lower concentrations of eDNA which had high Cq values. Previous assays had shown exponential amplification starting during the 40th cycle for environmental samples. It was determined that these would be better observed with added protocol length through a higher number of cycles. To further optimise the assays, another dilution was included with the serial dilution replicates (Section 2.3.3). This lower dilution provided amplification curves with more similar Cq values to that of the

environmental samples. This addition provided a known concentration comparison for the environmental samples and could aid in determining eDNA quantities in each reaction.

To confirm the results of section 2.3.3, the qPCR products were extracted from the inhibition assay plate and loaded onto a gel (Section 3.3). This gel showed that the amplified product bands were aligned with the corresponding band of the DNA ladder. It was determined that the probe had amplified the target *Lampetra* amplicon as the eDNA fragments matched the expected length of 90 bp. NTCs were included on each assay plate as a form of quality control. This showed that amplification within environmental samples was from *Lampetra* eDNA, rather than contamination between the positive or negative samples. Quality control was key during the optimisation of the qPCR protocol and several measures were taken into consideration during the development stages. For example, fresh pipette tips were used when pipetting reagents or changing between samples to prevent cross contamination across reactions. An optimisation period of up to three months was suggested by Zancolli et al. (2018), however the methodology of this project was optimised over two months. The results show that the laboratory methodology developed during this study proved effective in determining the presence-absence of *Lampetra* eDNA at the sampling site of Soudley Ponds, Cinderford, across a spawning season during April 2023.

Fluorescence detected by the qPCR machine occurred between cycle number 35 and 40 for the environmental samples which reflect those found in other qPCR studies (Thomas et al., 2020). These cycle numbers were expected as research has shown that eDNA concentrations are lower in environmental water samples compared to other environmental sources (Thalinger et al., 2021). This often results in higher Cq levels as the amplification curves start much later within the qPCR protocol (Section 3.4). The standard curve showed that the dilution series replicates amplified and fluoresced within a minimum of one cycle of each other. According to section 3.4, the dilution series replicates of known concentrations fit the general trend line.

4.4 Lampetra Presence-Absence

An important finding from the qPCR assays conducted through May and June of 2023 showed the presence of Lampetra species within the Soudley Ponds, Cinderford catchment during the fieldwork season from the 03.04.23 to 28.04.23. Positive gPCR reactions indicated presence of Lampetra eDNA at each of the sampling points along the chosen stretch of the stream (Section 3.4). Based on the findings of Lasne et al. (2010), it was expected that a spawning event would occur in April around the River Wye and Severn catchment. Using this knowledge, fieldwork was planned for April 2023 to maximise the opportunity of capturing eDNA if Lampetra species were spawning in the catchment. Previous studies were used to guide sampling strategy, such as the sampling frequency and time of sample collection. According to Russon and Kemp (2011), lampreys are known to spawn from 17:00 pm until 03:00 am and therefore sample collection took place at sunrise every sampling day. eDNA begins to degrade within six hours of a release event such as a spawning (Saito and Doi, 2021). Based on this understanding the collection was set at sunrise to limit degradation and capture the highest eDNA yield possible. No Lampetra individuals were observed during the fieldwork period, which likely reflects the overnight spawning patterns described in literature.

Additionally, there was no observed evidence of spawning, such as redds, during the fieldwork season. This would suggest that *Lampetra* present at the field site were in low numbers which reflects the findings of Harrison and Pinder (2020). According to Moser et al. (2021), *Lampetra* adults would be in-situ at suitable spawning habitats by April, well in advance of spawning, season to improve their chances of successful mating. Additionally, male individuals start constructing redds ahead of the spawning week and it would be expected that if *Lampetra* were present at the fieldwork site, redds would have been visible from the beginning of April (Dhamelincourt et al., 2022). As only a single stretch of the catchment was sampled, it was not possible to determine the exact spawning location or locations. eDNA such as gametes released during spawning are transported downstream by the water flow away from the release event. This can make locating the spawning event difficult when using eDNA compared to other methods such as physical observations or catches (Jones et al., 2020).

The results of section 3.4 showed a sharp increase in eDNA detections on the morning of 19.04.23. All sampling points showed positive detection of *Lampetra* eDNA from water samples filtered on the 19.04.23 (Section 3.4). Using these results, it was confirmed that *Lampetra* species eDNA was present at each of the sampling points on the morning of the 19.04.23. It was estimated that the *Lampetra* species spawning event happened between the evening of 18.04.23 and the morning of 19.04.23. This time frame could be determined using the temporal limitations of eDNA within the aquatic environment, which can affect the quality of the fragments (Saito and Doi, 2021). The spawning event likely occurred upstream of sampling point 1 and this was deciphered from the presence of *Lampetra* eDNA at all four points along the site. In the case of the spawning event happening between sampling points, there would have been an absence of eDNA upstream of the event and presence downstream, causing a split in the detection results. This project was able to provide evidence on *Lampetra* species, however due to the low specificity of the ATPase6 primers it was not possible to determine if either or both *L. fluviatilis* and *L. planeri* species were present within the river catchment.

Subsequent water samples taken on the 21.04.23 similarly highlighted the presence of Lampetra eDNA at each of the sampling points (Section 3.4). The number of positive replicates however fluctuated when compared to the previous sampling day. This decrease in the number of positive replicates for points 1 and 3 may have resulted from the higher water velocity at these points (Section 3.1). eDNA fragments may have been transported more efficiently downstream from points 1 and 3, when compared to the lower velocities at points 2 and 4 (Section 3.1). Smaller eDNA fragments (often in the form of cells) such as gametes are usually suspended within the water column of aquatic environments and can be easily transported down a water course (Yu et al., 2019). The rate at which eDNA is transported through an environment is dependent on the rate of water flow, resulting in differences of eDNA presence between sites along the same stream (Carraro et al., 2022). 100% detection at point 4 may have resulted from the geological characteristics of that sampling point. The meander at point 4 could have caused the decrease in velocity (Section 3.1) and enabled an accumulation of eDNA around this sampling area (Livanov, 2023). In addition, the decreased water temperature at point 4 (Section 3.1) may have helped to maintain the eDNA fragments and delay the impacts of thermal degradation (Qian et al., 2022). Similarly, sampling point 2 had a slower velocity, which may explain the higher number of positive replicates for point 2 compared with points 1 and 3 (Section 3.4). Literature states that a spawning event for Lampetra species may span across multiple days

depending on the number of individuals present, which may explain the high eDNA presence two days after the estimated spawning date (Daupagne et al., 2022).

Adult *Lampetra* morphs do not have working mouthparts and are unable to feed after the final metamorphosis to adult form. As a result of this morphological change, the metabolic cost of migration and spawning is too great to overcome (Kujawa et al., 2019). After spawning, adult *Lampetra* individuals die which creates another potential source of eDNA when cells, blood and gut contents are released during predation events and decomposition (De Souza et al., 2016). This second source of eDNA may account for the results obtained from sampling point 1 on the 24.04.23 where all six replicates were positive for *Lampetra* eDNA (Section 3.4). Daupagne et al. (2022) determined that usually only a single spawning event occurs within the *Lampetra* spawning season. The increase in eDNA presence occurred after a two-day break with no sampling and it would be expected that fragments from the spawning event would have degraded. It was determined that the spike in eDNA presence was likely the result of settled or buried eDNA being disturbed upstream of sampling point 1. When reviewing the literature, a disturbance of eDNA upstream was more likely than a second spawning event.

Results from section 3.4 add further plausibility that the spawning event occurred upstream of sampling point 1 during the third week of April 2023. This was seen in the results as on the 24.04.23 the number of positive detections increased at the most upstream sampling point of the field site. At the end of the fieldwork season, the number of Lampetra eDNA detections fell at all four sampling points across the site (Section 3.4). Only one replicate at each point showed positive detection on the 26.04.23 and 28.04.23, which was nine days post estimated spawning event. This decrease in detections and presence would be expected due to the degradation of eDNA fragments after a release event such as spawning. Additionally, it was expected that any Lampetra eDNA remaining intact would have been transported downstream of the sampling points before the final two days of sampling, although fragments may have become buried in upstream sediments. The negative control samples were filtered on-site along with the environmental samples and showed no amplification during the qPCR assays. This further validates that amplification in the environmental sample assays was the true presence of Lampetra eDNA, rather than contamination. Disinfecting the equipment between sampling days also ensured that positive amplifications were true detections, rather than detecting remaining eDNA from prior sampling. These steps were included to maintain quality control during the fieldwork season.

5. Conclusions and Recommendations

5.1 Conclusions

Over the course of this research project, a working fieldwork and laboratory methodology for detecting the presence-absence of Lampetra species was developed. Sampling strategies were based on recommendations from previous research focussing on similar aquatic species, methodology reviews and proof of concept literature. The main finding of this research was the presence of Lampetra eDNA in water samples collected at the Soudley Ponds sampling site during a spawning season in April 2023. From the findings, it was estimated that a spawning event did occur between 18.04.2023 and 19.04.2023 as a large spike in eDNA detection could be seen within the environmental sample assays, compared with no detections before this sampling date. Although no Lampetra individuals were observed over the fieldwork season, eDNA techniques such as gPCR showed true amplification of the target amplicon which was cross referenced with gel electrophoresis imagery. This piece of research has helped to expand the limited literature available regarding Lampetra spawning in the Forest of Dean catchment, building upon previous projects that used more traditional methods. The eDNA results suggested that Soudley Ponds could be a site of interest for further research during the next Lampetra spawning season.

When analysing the sediment taken from the sampling site, it was determined that each sampling point had grain or particle sizes required for either or both Lampetra spawning and nursery habitats. Locating waterways that could potentially support lamprey spawning events, and subsequently support offspring, is vital for the continued protection of these species. Sites identified as having a possible Lampetra species presence are protected under European legislation, demonstrating the vulnerability of these species and the need for further research. One of the main threats to Lampetra species is the loss of sediments through anthropogenic interference resulting in habitat fragmentation via the addition of impassable in-channel structures. Physical characteristics play a role in creating and maintaining aguatic habitats and Soudley Ponds was no exception. The physical characteristics tested at each sampling point showed favourable spawning and nursery characteristics for Lampetra species. Most notably, the sampling points had both fast flows which support spawning and slow flows which support the deposition of nursery sediments. These physical characteristics are created when NFM interventions are implemented in waterways, such as leaky barriers, and therefore it can be assumed that the new habitat created by these NFM structures will be suitable for lamprey spawning.

The methodology development within this study was much more complex than expected. It was determined that establishing a working methodology using a positive control site was more beneficial than conducting analysis at an NFM site without confirmed lamprey presence. Knowledge gaps were identified during the literature review, some of which have been answered over the course of this project. The optimisation of the primers and probe taken from Zancolli et al. (2018) has provided an understanding of their use within an in-field application. This research has contributed to the evidence that eDNA can be used as a sensitive technique to identify rare or vulnerable species. Additionally, the project has also highlighted the advantages of eDNA and qPCR as rapid tools for locating possible *Lampetra* species spawning events and verifying results from previous projects with traditional

methods. When considering species conservation in relation to anthropogenic interventions in nature, it is beneficial to understand the key habitat characteristics. Increasingly this is occurring through the use of non-invasive monitoring techniques such as eDNA to inform conservation management plans for rare and vulnerable species.

5.2 Recommendations

To improve the streamlining of similar research projects in the future it is recommended that the filters undergo DNA extraction within one week of collection. This will ensure that any degradation effects are limited, and qPCR analysis can begin much sooner, giving more time for assay optimisation and repeats. Additionally, although Longmire's buffer is a preservative for upwards of six months, degradation can still occur within the filters which could affect the yield of DNA extracted.

It is recommended that the serial dilution be extended further to provide a better understanding of the detection and quantification limit of the primers and probe taken from Zancolli et al. (2018). By extending the dilutions, an increased number of amplification curves could be used as a comparison for the quantity of *Lampetra* eDNA within environmental water samples. Additionally, the serial dilutions could also be made to a 1:10 concentration rather than a 1:5 in order to further determine the limit of detection of eDNA from environmental samples. This dilution factor would create lower concentrations of control DNA and provide a visual reference when comparing water sample results to the serial dilutions. Extending the serial dilution could also be beneficial for estimating the limit of quantification and copy number of the eDNA from environmental samples. In addition, it is recommended that all fieldwork sampling equipment should be disinfected for a minimum of 20 mins to ensure all remaining eDNA traces are removed.

Furthermore, to validate that the target amplicon has been amplified it is recommended that the positive amplification results from the qPCR assays undergo gel electrophoresis. This would provide a visual comparison between the expected length of the eDNA fragments against the DNA ladder. One of the main recommendations from this project is that future research should focus on the primers and probe taken from Souissi et al. (2022). Further optimisation of these primers and probe is required to determine whether *Lampetra* species can be distinguished based on positive eDNA amplification using environmental water samples. To better understand how the physical characteristics may affect *Lampetra* spawning, it is recommended that these measurements be taken more frequently throughout the fieldwork season. A larger volume of characteristic data would enable more in-depth analysis and provide insight into the day-to-day influences on spawning events such as weather.

Finally, this research could be expanded to include eDNA testing of NFM sites that have had leaky barriers installed in the river channels to test whether these do indeed create a viable habitat for lamprey. Future studies such as this may be applied on a larger scale, taking into consideration the advantages of modelling analysis.

References

Adams, C.E., Bissett, N., Newton, J. and Maitland, P.S., 2008. Alternative migration and host parasitism strategies and their long-term stability in river lampreys from the River Endrick, Scotland. Journal of Fish Biology, 72(10), pp.2456-2466.

Afzali, S.F., Bourdages, H., Laporte, M., Mérot, C., Normandeau, E., Audet, C. and Bernatchez, L., 2021. Comparing environmental metabarcoding and trawling survey of demersal fish communities in the Gulf of St. Lawrence, Canada. Environmental DNA, 3(1), pp.22-42.

Akat, E., Yenmiş, M., Pombal, M.A., Molist, P., Megías, M., Arman, S., Veselỳ, M., Anderson, R. and Ayaz, D., 2022. Comparison of vertebrate skin structure at class level: A review. *The Anatomical Record*, *305*(12), pp.3543-3608.

Albright, A.J. and Lucas, M.C., 2021. The use of European river lamprey as bait by the UK coarse predator angling community. Fisheries Management and Ecology, 28(6), pp.542-555.

Alfino, S. and Roberts, D.L., 2019. Estimating identification uncertainties in CITES 'lookalike'species. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, *18*, p.e00648.

Almeida, P.R., Quintella, B.R., Dias, N.M. and Andrade, N., 2002, July. The anadromous sea lamprey in Portugal: biology and conservation perspectives. In *International congress on the biology of fish: the biology of lampreys. American Fisheries Society, Physiology Section, Bethesda, Maryland* (pp. 49-58).

Alves, A., Vojinovic, Z., Kapelan, Z., Sanchez, A. and Gersonius, B., 2020. Exploring trade-offs among the multiple benefits of green-blue-grey infrastructure for urban flood mitigation. Science of the Total Environment, 703, p.134980.

Andruszkiewicz A, E., Zhang, W.G., C Lavery, A. and F Govindarajan, A., 2021. Environmental DNA shedding and decay rates from diverse animal forms and thermal regimes. *Environmental DNA*, *3*(2), pp.492-514.

Aronsuu, K. and Tertsunen, J., 2015. Selection of spawning substratum by European river lampreys (Lampetra fluviatilis) in experimental tanks. *Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology*, *48*(1), pp.41-50.

Baer, J., Hartmann, F. and Brinker, A., 2018. Abiotic triggers for sea and river lamprey spawning migration and juvenile outmigration in the River Rhine, Germany. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish*, 27(4), pp.988-998.

Baltazar-Soares, M., Pinder, A.C., Harrison, A.J., Oliver, W., Picken, J., Britton, J.R. and Andreou, D., 2022. A noninvasive eDNA tool for detecting sea lamprey larvae in river sediments: Analytical validation and field testing in a low-abundance ecosystem. *Journal of Fish Biology*.

Banerjee, P., Stewart, K.A., Antognazza, C.M., Bunholi, I.V., Deiner, K., Barnes, M.A., Saha, S., Verdier, H., Doi, H., Maity, J.P., and Chan, M.W., 2022. Plant–animal interactions in the era of environmental DNA (eDNA)—A review. *Environmental DNA*.

Bark, R.H., Martin-Ortega, J., and Waylen, K.A., 2021. Stakeholders' views on natural flood management: Implications for the nature-based solutions paradigm shift? Environmental Science & Policy, 115, pp.91-98.

Barnes, M.A. and Turner, C.R., 2016. The ecology of environmental DNA and implications for conservation genetics. *Conservation genetics*, *17*(1), pp.1-17.

Barnes, M.A., Turner, C.R., Jerde, C.L., Renshaw, M.A., Chadderton, W.L. and Lodge, D.M., 2014. Environmental conditions influence eDNA persistence in aquatic systems. Environmental science & technology, 48(3), pp.1819-1827. Bazarov, D., Markova, I., Norkulov, B., Isabaev, K. and Sapaeva, M., 2020, June. Operational efficiency of water damless intake. In *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering* (Vol. 869, No. 7, p. 072051). IOP Publishing.

Beng, K.C. and Corlett, R.T., 2020. Applications of environmental DNA (eDNA) in ecology and conservation: opportunities, challenges, and prospects. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 29(7), pp.2089-2121.

Black, A., Peskett, L., MacDonald, A., Young, A., Spray, C., Ball, T., Thomas, H. and Werritty, A., 2021. Natural flood management, lag time and catchment scale: Results from an empirical nested catchment study. Journal of Flood Risk Management, 14(3), p.e12717.

Blank, M., Jürss, K. and Bastrop, R., 2008. A mitochondrial multigene approach contributing to the systematics of the brook and river lampreys and the phylogenetic position of Eudontomyzon mariae. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 65(12), pp.2780-2790.

Bokhove, O., Kelmanson, M. and Kent, T., 2018. On using flood-excess volume to assess natural flood management, exemplified for extreme 2007 and 2015 floods in Yorkshire.

Borchardt, M.A., Boehm, A.B., Salit, M., Spencer, S.K., Wigginton, K.R. and Noble, R.T., 2021. The environmental microbiology minimum information (EMMI) guidelines: qPCR and dPCR quality and reporting for environmental microbiology. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *55*(15), pp.10210-10223.

Borowiec, B.G., Docker, M.F., Johnson, N.S., Moser, M.L., Zielinski, B. and Wilkie, M.P., 2021. Exploiting the physiology of lampreys to refine methods of control and conservation. *Journal of Great Lakes Research*, *47*, pp. S723-S741.

Boulêtreau, S., Carry, L., Meyer, E., Filloux, D., Menchi, O., Mataix, V. and Santoul, F., 2020. High predation of native sea lamprey during spawning migration. *Scientific Reports*, *10*(1), p.6122.

Bracken, F.S., Hoelzel, A.R., Hume, J.B. and Lucas, M.C., 2015. Contrasting population genetic structure among freshwater-resident and anadromous lampreys: the role of demographic history, differential dispersal, and anthropogenic barriers to movement. Molecular Ecology, 24(6), pp.1188-1204.

Bracken, F.S., Rooney, S.M., Kelly-Quinn, M., King, J.J. and Carlsson, J., 2019. Identifying spawning sites and other critical habitat in lotic systems using eDNA "snapshots": A case study using the sea lamprey Petromyzon marinus L. *Ecology and Evolution*, *9*(1), pp.553-567.

Burgess-Gamble, L., Ngai, R., Wilkinson, M., Nisbet, T., Pontee, N., Harvey, R., Kipling, K., Addy, S., Rose, S., Maslen, S. and Jay, H., 2017. Working with natural processes–evidence directory. *Environmental Agency, Report No. SC150005*.

Bylemans, J., Gleeson, D.M., Duncan, R.P., Hardy, C.M. and Furlan, E.M., 2019. A performance evaluation of targeted eDNA and eDNA metabarcoding analyses for freshwater fishes. Environmental DNA, 1(4), pp.402-414.

Byrne, C., Igoe, F., Cooke, D., O'Grady, M. and Gargan, P., 2000. The distribution of the brook lamprey (Lampetra planeri, Bloch) in the Lough Corrib catchment in the west of Ireland and some aspects of its biology and ecology. Internationale Vereinigung für theoretische und angewandte Limnologie: Verhandlungen, 27(4), pp.2066-2070.

Campion, E.M. and Loughran, S.T., 2021. Gene Expression Analysis by Reverse Transcription Quantitative PCR. *Helicobacter Pylori*, pp.61-74.

Capo, E., Spong, G., Königsson, H. and Byström, P., 2020. Effects of filtration methods and water volume on the quantification of brown trout (Salmo trutta) and Arctic char (Salvelinus alpinus) eDNA concentrations via droplet digital PCR. Environmental DNA, 2(2), pp.152-160.

Carraro, L., Mächler, E., Wüthrich, R. and Altermatt, F., 2020. Environmental DNA allows upscaling spatial patterns of biodiversity in freshwater ecosystems. *Nature communications*, *11*(1), pp.1-12.

Carvalho, J., Garrido-Maestu, A., Azinheiro, S., Fuciños, P., Barros-Velázquez, J., De Miguel, R.J., Gros, V. and Prado, M., 2021. Faster monitoring of the invasive alien species (IAS) Dreissena polymorpha in river basins through isothermal amplification. *Scientific Reports*, *11*(1), p.10175.

Chambers, J., Meldrum, P., Wilkinson, P., Holmes, J., Huntley, D., Bobrowsky, P.T., Gunn, D., Uhlemann, S. and Slater, N., 2021. Long-term geophysical monitoring of moisture driven landslide processes. Understanding and Reducing Landslide Disaster Risk: Volume 3 Monitoring and Early Warning 5th, pp.67-74.

Chen, J.L., Wilson, C.R. and Tapley, B.D., 2010. The 2009 exceptional Amazon flood and interannual terrestrial water storage change observed by GRACE. *Water Resources Research*, *46*(12).

Clemens, B., Schreck, C., Sower, S.A., and Van de Wetering, S.J., 2016. The potential roles of river environments in selecting for stream-and ocean-maturing Pacific Lamprey, Entosphenus tridentatus (Gairdner, 1836). Jawless fishes of the world, 1, pp.299-322.

Clemens, B.J., Harris, J.E., Starcevich, S.J., Evans, T.M., Skalicky, J.J., Neave, F. and Lampman, R.T., 2022. Sampling methods and survey designs for larval lampreys. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management*, *42*(2), pp.455-474.

Cochran, P.A., Bloom, D.D. and Wagner, R.J., 2008. Alternative reproductive behaviors in lampreys and their significance. Journal of Freshwater Ecology, 23(3), pp.437-444.

Colin, N., Villéger, S., Wilkes, M., de Sostoa, A. and Maceda-Veiga, A., 2018. Functional diversity measures revealed impacts of non-native species and habitat degradation on species-poor freshwater fish assemblages. Science of the Total Environment, 625, pp.861-871.

Collentine, D., and Futter, M.N., 2018. Realising the potential of natural water retention measures in catchment flood management: Trade-offs and matching interests. Journal of Flood Risk Management, 11(1), pp.76-84.

Collins, R.A., Wangensteen, O.S., O'Gorman, E.J., Mariani, S., Sims, D.W. and Genner, M.J., 2018. Persistence of environmental DNA in marine systems. *Communications Biology*, *1*(1), p.185.

Cooper, M.M., Patil, S.D., Nisbet, T.R., Thomas, H., Smith, A.R. and McDonald, M.A., 2021. Role of forested land for natural flood management in the UK: A review. *Wiley interdisciplinary reviews: Water*, *8*(5), p.e1541.

Cyr, H., 2020. Site exposure, substrate, depth, and the thermocline affect the growth of native unionid mussels in a stratified lake. *Freshwater Science*, *39*(4), pp.773-790.

Dadson, S.J., Hall, J.W., Murgatroyd, A., Acreman, M., Bates, P., Beven, K., Heathwaite, L., Holden, J., Holman, I.P., Lane, S.N. and O'Connell, E., 2017. A restatement of the natural science evidence concerning catchment-based 'natural'flood management in the UK. Proceedings of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 473(2199), p.20160706.

Dasgupta, T., Mukherjee, S., Dasgupta, T. and Mukherjee, S., 2020. Compaction of sediments and different compaction models. *Sediment Compaction and Applications in Petroleum Geoscience*, pp.1-8.

Daupagne, L., Dhamelincourt, M., Michaud, A., Rives, J., Sebihi, S. and Tentelier, C., 2022. Realistic variations in substrate composition affect spawning preference and egg retention in river lamprey (Lampetra fluviatilis). *Journal of Fish Biology*.

Davies, P., Britton, J.R., Nunn, A.D., Dodd, J.R., Bainger, C., Velterop, R. and Bolland, J.D., 2022. Individual movement variation in upstream-migrating sea lamprey Petromyzon marinus in a highly fragmented river. Freshwater Biology, 67(4), pp.643-656. Dawson, H.A., Quintella, B.R., Almeida, P.R., Treble, A.J. and Jolley, J.C., 2015. The ecology of larval and metamorphosing lampreys. In *Lampreys: biology, conservation, and control* (pp. 75-137). Springer, Dordrecht.

De Cahsan, B., Nagel, R., Schedina, I.M., King, J.J., Bianco, P.G., Tiedemann, R. and Ketmaier, V., 2020. Phylogeography of the European brook lamprey (Lampetra planeri) and the European river lamprey (Lampetra fluviatilis) species pair based on mitochondrial data. Journal of Fish Biology, 96(4), pp.905-912.

De Souza, L.S., Godwin, J.C., Renshaw, M.A. and Larson, E., 2016. Environmental DNA (eDNA) detection probability is influenced by seasonal activity of organisms. PloS one, 11(10), p.e0165273.

Deane, A., Norrey, J., Coulthard, E., McKendry, D.C., and Dean, A.P., 2021. Riverine large woody debris introduced for natural flood management leads to rapid improvement in aquatic macroinvertebrate diversity. Ecological Engineering, 163, p.106197.

Decanter, N., Normand, R., Souissi, A., Labbé, C., Edeline, E. and Evanno, G., 2023. Sperm competition experiments reveal low prezygotic postmating isolation between parasitic and nonparasitic lamprey ecotypes. Ecology and Evolution, 13(4), p.e9970.

Dhamelincourt, M., Rives, J., Lange, F., Elosegi, A. and Tentelier, C., 2022. Habitat choice versus habitat transformation in a nest-building fish: which matters most? Behavioral Ecology, 33(3), pp.615-623.

Dittrich, R., Ball, T., Wreford, A., Moran, D., and Spray, C.J., 2019. A cost-benefit analysis of afforestation as a climate change adaptation measure to reduce flood risk. *Journal of Flood Risk Management*, *12*(4), p.e12482.

Docker, M.F. and Hume, J.B., 2019. There and back again: lampreys in the 21st Century and beyond. In *Lampreys: biology, conservation, and control* (pp. 527-570). Springer, Dordrecht.

Docker, M.F. and Potter, I.C., 2019. Life history evolution in lampreys: alternative migratory and feeding types. In Lampreys: biology, conservation, and control (pp. 287-409). Springer, Dordrecht.

Docker, M.F., 2009. A review of the evolution of nonparasitism in lampreys and an update of the paired species concept. In American Fisheries Society Symposium (Vol. 72, pp. 71-114).

Docker, M.F., Beamish, F.W.H., Yasmin, T., Bryan, M.B. and Khan, A., 2019. The lamprey gonad. In Lampreys: biology, conservation, and control (pp. 1-186). Springer, Dordrecht.

Docker, M.F., Hume, J.B., and Clemens, B.J., 2015. Introduction: a surfeit of lampreys. In *Lampreys: biology, conservation, and control* (pp. 1-34). Springer, Dordrecht.

Dziewulska, K. and Domagała, J., 2009. Ripening of the oocyte of the river lamprey (Lampetra fluviatilis L.) after river entry. Journal of Applied Ichthyology, 25(6), pp.752-756.

Ellis, N., Anderson, K. and Brazier, R., 2021. Mainstreaming natural flood management: A proposed research framework derived from a critical evaluation of current knowledge. Progress in Physical Geography: Earth and Environment, 45(6), pp.819-841.

Environment Agency. <u>Environment Agency annual report and accounts 2017 to 2018 - GOV.UK</u> (www.gov.uk). Accessed 2023.

Espanhol, R., Almeida, P.R., and Alves, M.J., 2007. Evolutionary history of lamprey paired species Lampetra fluviatilis (L.) and Lampetra planeri (Bloch) as inferred from mitochondrial DNA variation. *Molecular ecology*, *16*(9), pp.1909-1924.

Evans, T.M. and Weber, A.M., 2020. Multiple stable isotopes identify sediment organic matter as the primary nutritional source to American brook lamprey larvae along a stream gradient. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 77(1), pp.81-89.

Fissette, S.D., Buchinger, T.J., Wagner, C.M., Johnson, N.S., Scott, A.M. and Li, W., 2021. Progress towards integrating an understanding of chemical ecology into sea lamprey control. *Journal of Great Lakes Research*, *47*, pp. S660-S672.

Follett, E.M. and Wilson, C.A.M.E., 2020, August. Bedload sediment transport induced by channelspanning instream structures. In River Flow 2020: Proceedings of the 10th Conference on Fluvial Hydraulics (Delft, Netherlands, 7-10 July 2020).

Friebertshauser, R., Shollenberger, K., Janosik, A., Garner, J.T. and Johnston, C., 2019. The effect of bivalve filtration on eDNA-based detection of aquatic organisms. *PloS one*, *14*(11), p.e0222830.

Garafutdinov, R.R., Galimova, A.A. and Sakhabutdinova, A.R., 2020. The influence of quality of primers on the formation of primer dimers in PCR. *Nucleosides, Nucleotides & Nucleic Acids*, *39*(9), pp.1251-1269.

Garibyan, L. and Avashia, N., 2013. Research techniques made simple: polymerase chain reaction (PCR). The Journal of investigative dermatology, 133(3), p.e6.

Garlapati, D., Charankumar, B., Ramu, K., Madeswaran, P. and Murthy, R., 2019. A review on the applications and recent advances in environmental DNA (eDNA) metagenomics. Reviews in Environmental Science and Bio/Technology, 18(3), pp.389-411.

Garvey, A. and Paavola, J., 2022. Community action on natural flood management and the governance of a catchment-based approach in the UK. Environmental Policy and Governance, 32(1), pp.3-16.

Gerolin, C.R., Pupim, F.N., Sawakuchi, A.O., Grohmann, C.H., Labuto, G. and Semensatto, D., 2020. Microplastics in sediments from Amazon rivers, Brazil. *Science of the Total Environment*, 749, p.141604.

Golovanov, V.K., Nekrutov, N.S., Zvezdin, A.O., Smirnov, A.K. and Tsimbalov, I.A., 2019. Thermoadaptation characteristics of European river lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis smolts. *Journal of Ichthyology*, *59*, pp.805-809.

Goodwin, C.E., Dick, J.T.A., Rogowski, D.L. and Elwood, R.W., 2008. Lamprey (Lampetra fluviatilis and Lampetra planeri) ammocoete habitat associations at regional, catchment and microhabitat scales in Northern Ireland. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish*, *17*(4), pp.542-553.

Gov.uk, 2021. Creating a better place. Using the power of nature to increase flood resilience - Creating a better place (blog.gov.uk). Accessed 2023.

Grabowski, R.C., Gurnell, A.M., Burgess-Gamble, L., England, J., Holland, D., Klaar, M.J., Morrissey, I., Uttley, C. and Wharton, G., 2019. The current state of the use of large wood in river restoration and management. Water and Environment Journal, 33(3), pp.366-377.

Gunnell, K., Mulligan, M., Francis, R.A., and Hole, D.G., 2019. Evaluating natural infrastructure for flood management within the watersheds of selected global cities. Science of the Total Environment, 670, pp.411-424.

Hajia, M., 2018. Limitations of different PCR protocols used in diagnostic laboratories: a short review. Modern Medical Laboratory Journal, 1(1), pp.1-6.

Hallam, J., Clare, E.L., Jones, J.I. and Day, J.J., 2021. Biodiversity assessment across a dynamic riverine system: A comparison of eDNA metabarcoding versus traditional fish surveying methods. *Environmental DNA*, *3*(6), pp.1247-1266.

Hankin, B., Hewitt, I., Sander, G., Danieli, F., Formetta, G., Kamilova, A., Kretzschmar, A., Kiradjiev, K., Wong, C., Pegler, S. and Lamb, R., 2020. A risk-based network analysis of distributed in-stream leaky barriers for flood risk management. Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences, 20(10), pp.2567-2584.

Harris, J.E., Liedtke, T.L., Skalicky, J.J. and Weiland, L.K., 2023. Salvage using electrofishing methods caused minimal mortality of burrowed and emerged larval lampreys in dewatered habitats. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management*.

Harrison A. and Pinder A., 2020. Forest of Dean lamprey habitat and population assessment, 2019 - 2020. BU Global Environmental Solutions (BUG) report (BUG2823) to Forestry Commission. 29 pp.

Heath, V.L., Miehls, S., Johnson, N., and Higgs, D.M., 2021. Behavioural response of sea lamprey (Petromyzon marinus) to acoustic stimuli in a small stream. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, *78*(4), pp.341-348.

Holman, L.E., Chng, Y. and Rius, M., 2022. How does eDNA decay affect metabarcoding experiments?. Environmental DNA, 4(1), pp.108-116.

Huang, R., Zeng, Y., Zha, W. and Yang, F., 2022. Investigation of flow characteristics in open channel with leaky barriers. Journal of Hydrology, 613, p.128328.

Huisman, J., 2017. Pedigree reconstruction from SNP data: parentage assignment, sibship clustering and beyond. Molecular ecology resources, 17(5), pp.1009-1024.

Hume, J.B., 2017. A review of the geographic distribution, status, and conservation of Scotland's lampreys. Glasg. Nat, 26, pp.1-10.

Hume, J.B., Bracken, F.S., Mateus, C.S. and Brant, C.O., 2021. Synergizing basic and applied scientific approaches to help understand lamprey biology and support management actions. Journal of Great Lakes Research, 47, pp. S24-S37.

Hume, J.B., Recknagel, H., Bean, C.W., Adams, C.E. and Mable, B.K., 2018. RADseq and mate choice assays reveal unidirectional gene flow among three lamprey ecotypes despite weak assortative mating: insights into the formation and stability of multiple ecotypes in sympatry. Molecular ecology, 27(22), pp.4572-4590.

Hunter, M.E., Dorazio, R.M., Butterfield, J.S., Meigs-Friend, G., Nico, L.G. and Ferrante, J.A., 2017. Detection limits of quantitative and digital PCR assays and their influence in presence–absence surveys of environmental DNA. *Molecular ecology resources*, *17*(2), pp.221-229.

lacob, O., Rowan, J.S., Brown, I. and Ellis, C., 2014. Evaluating wider benefits of natural flood management strategies: an ecosystem-based adaptation perspective. Hydrology Research, 45(6), pp.774-787.

Igoe, F., Quigley, D.T.G., Marnell, F., Meskell, E., O'Connor, W. and Byrne, C., 2004. The sea lamprey Petromyzon marinus (L.), river lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis (L.) and brook lamprey Lampetra planeri (Bloch) in Ireland: general biology, ecology, distribution, and status with recommendations for conservation. In Biology and Environment: Proceedings of the Royal Irish Academy (Vol. 104, No. 3, pp. 43-56). Royal Irish Academy.

Jansson, L. and Hedman, J., 2019. Challenging the proposed causes of the PCR plateau phase. *Biomolecular detection and quantification*, *17*, p.100082.

Jerde, C.L., 2021. Can we manage fisheries with the inherent uncertainty from eDNA? Journal of fish biology, 98(2), pp.341-353.

Jimenez, I.M., Kühl, M., Larkum, A.W.D. and Ralph, P.J., 2008. Heat budget and thermal microenvironment of shallow-water corals: Do massive corals get warmer than branching corals?. *Limnology and Oceanography*, *53*(4), pp.1548-1561.

Johnson, M.D., Katz, A.D., Davis, M.A., Tetzlaff, S., Edlund, D., Tomczyk, S., Molano-Flores, B., Wilder, T. and Sperry, J.H., 2023. Environmental DNA metabarcoding from flowers reveals arthropod pollinators, plant pests, parasites, and potential predator–prey interactions while revealing more arthropod diversity than camera traps. Environmental DNA.

Johnson, M.F., Edwards, P., Todd, R., Castro, J.M. and Thorne, C.R., 2022. Performance of an environmentally aligned, low maintenance flood alleviation scheme on the Burn of Mosset, Forres, Scotland. *River Research and Applications*.

Johnson, N.S., Buchinger, T.J. and Li, W., 2015. Reproductive ecology of lampreys. In Lampreys: biology, conservation, and control (pp. 265-303). Springer, Dordrecht.

Jones, K.L., Dunham, J.B., O'Connor, J.E., Keith, M.K., Mangano, J.F., Coates, K. and Mackie, T., 2020. River Network and Reach-Scale Controls on Habitat for Lamprey Larvae in the Umpqua River Basin, Oregon. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management*, *40*(6), pp.1400-1416.

Jubb, W.M., Noble, R.A., Dodd, J.R., Nunn, A.D., Schirrmacher, P., Lothian, A.J., Albright, A.J., Bubb, D.H., Lucas, M.C. and Bolland, J.D., 2023. Catchment-wide interactive effects of anthropogenic structures and river levels on fish spawning migrations. *Anthropocene*, *43*, p.100400.

Kantamaneni, K., Rice, L., Du, X., Allali, B. and Yenneti, K., 2022. Are current UK coastal defences good enough for tomorrow? An assessment of vulnerability to coastal erosion. *Coastal Management*, *50*(2), pp.142-159.

Kemp, P., Sear, D., Collins, A., Naden, P. and Jones, I., 2011. The impacts of fine sediment on riverine fish. Hydrological processes, 25(11), pp.1800-1821.

Khazai, B., Ingram, J.C. and Saah, D.S., 2007. *The protective role of natural and engineered defence systems in coastal hazards*. Spatial Informatics Groups.

Kholodnyy, V., Gadêlha, H., Cosson, J. and Boryshpolets, S., 2020. How do freshwater fish sperm find the egg? The physicochemical factors guiding the gamete encounters of externally fertilizing freshwater fish. *Reviews in Aquaculture*, *12*(2), pp.1165-1192.

Khoury, S. and Tran, N., 2020. qPCR multiplex detection of microRNA and messenger RNA in a single reaction. *PeerJ*, *8*, p.e9004.

King J. (Coord.), Beaulaton L., Cobo F., Launey S., Mateus C.S., Nachón D.J., Quintella B.R. and Silva S. 2015. Lampreys state of the art in ICES Report of the Workshop on Lampreys and Shads (WKLS), pp. 8-45. Edited by P.R. Almeida and E. Rochard. 27–29 November 2014, 223 pp.

Koskinen, M.T., Holopainen, J., Pyörälä, S., Bredbacka, P., Pitkälä, A., Barkema, H.W., Bexiga, R., Roberson, J., Sølverød, L., Piccinini, R. and Kelton, D., 2009. Analytical specificity and sensitivity of a real-time polymerase chain reaction assay for identification of bovine mastitis pathogens. Journal of dairy science, 92(3), pp.952-959.

Kotowski, W., Okruszko, T. and St, N., 2004. Towards natural flood reduction strategies: introduction to Ecoflood special feature. Journal of Water and Land Development, (8), pp.5-9.

Kucheryavyy, A.V., Zvezdin, A.O., Polyakova, N.V. and Pavlov, D.S., 2022. A new element in the migration cycle of the European river lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis: downstream migration from a lake. Environmental Biology of Fishes, pp.1-15.

Kujawa, R., Nowosad, J., Biegaj, M., Cejko, B.I. and Kucharczyk, D., 2019. Use of ultrasonography to determine sex in sexually immature European river lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis (L.). *Animal reproduction science*, *204*, pp.95-100.

Kumar, S., Stecher, G., Li, M., Knyaz, C. and Tamura, K., 2018. MEGA X: molecular evolutionary genetics analysis across computing platforms. *Molecular biology and evolution*, *35*(6), p.1547.

Kuriqi, A. and Hysa, A., 2021. Multidimensional aspects of floods: nature-based mitigation measures from basin to river reach scale. In *Nature-based solutions for flood mitigation: Environmental and socio-economic aspects* (pp. 11-33). Cham: Springer International Publishing.

Lafortezza, R., Chen, J., Van Den Bosch, C.K. and Randrup, T.B., 2018. Nature-based solutions for resilient landscapes and cities. *Environmental research*, *165*, pp.431-441.
Lamb, P.D., Fonseca, V.G., Maxwell, D.L. and Nnanatu, C.C., 2022. Systematic review and metaanalysis: Water type and temperature affect environmental DNA decay. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, *22*(7), pp.2494-2505.

Lance, R.F. and Guan, X., 2020. Variation in inhibitor effects on qPCR assays and implications for eDNA surveys. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 77(1), pp.23-33.

Larson, E.R., Graham, B.M., Achury, R., Coon, J.J., Daniels, M.K., Gambrell, D.K., Jonasen, K.L., King, G.D., LaRacuente, N., Perrin-Stowe, T.I. and Reed, E.M., 2020. From eDNA to citizen science: emerging tools for the early detection of invasive species. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 18(4), pp.194-202.

Lasne, E., Sabatié, M.R. and Evanno, G., 2010. Communal spawning of brook and river lampreys (Lampetra planeri and L. fluviatilis) is common in the Oir River (France). Ecology of Freshwater Fish, 19(3), pp.323-325.

Lawson-Handley, L., Read, D.S., Winfield, I.J., Kimbell, H., Johnson, H., Li, J., Hahn, C., Blackman, R., Wilcox, R., Donnelly, R. and Szitenberg, A., 2019. Temporal and spatial variation in distribution of fish environmental DNA in England's largest lake. *Environmental DNA*, *1*(1), pp.26-39.

Lecaudey, L.A., Schletterer, M., Kuzovlev, V.V., Hahn, C., and Weiss, S.J., 2019. Fish diversity assessment in the headwaters of the Volga River using environmental DNA metabarcoding. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems, 29(10), pp.1785-1800.

Lekang, K., Thompson, E.M. and Troedsson, C., 2015. A comparison of DNA extraction methods for biodiversity studies of eukaryotes in marine sediments. Aquatic microbial ecology, 75(1), pp.15-25.

Liu, B.W., Wang, M.H., Chen, T.L., Tseng, P.C., Sun, Y., Chiang, A. and Chiang, P.C., 2020. Establishment and implementation of green infrastructure practice for healthy watershed management: Challenges and perspectives. Water-Energy Nexus, 3, pp.186-197.

Liu, Q., Zhang, P., Cheng, B., Li, Y., Li, J., Zhou, H., Sun, G., Qing, J., Zhu, Z., Lu, Y. and Zhao, P., 2021. Incorporating the life stages of fish into habitat assessment frameworks: A case study in the Baihetan Reservoir. *Journal of Environmental Management*, *299*, p.113663.

Livanov, D., 2023. Fresh Water on the Earth. In *The Physics of Planet Earth and Its Natural Wonders* (pp. 201-240). Cham: Springer Nature Switzerland.

Lo, H.W., Smith, M., Klaar, M. and Woulds, C., 2021. Potential secondary effects of in-stream wood structures installed for natural flood management: A conceptual model. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Water*, *8*(5), p.e1546.

Lofton, M.E., Howard, D.W., McClure, R.P., Wander, H.L., Woelmer, W.M., Hounshell, A.G., Lewis, A.S. and Carey, C.C., 2022. Experimental thermocline deepening alters vertical distribution and community structure of phytoplankton in a 4-year whole-reservoir manipulation. *Freshwater Biology*, *67*(11), pp.1903-1924.

Loshakova, Y.V. and Knizhin, I.B., 2015. Morphological characteristics and ecological peculiarities of nonparasitic lampreys of the genus Lethenteron (Petromyzontidae) from the Angara River basin. *Journal of Ichthyology*, *55*(2), pp.162-171.

Lothian, A.J., Tummers, J.S., Albright, A.J., O'Brien, P. and Lucas, M.C., 2020. River connectivity restoration for upstream-migrating European river lamprey: The efficacy of two horizontally-mounted studded tile designs. River Research and Applications, 36(10), pp.2013-2023.

Lucas, M.C., Hume, J.B., Almeida, P.R., Aronsuu, K., Habit, E., Silva, S., Wang, C.J. and Zampatti, B., 2021. Emerging conservation initiatives for lampreys: Research challenges and opportunities. *Journal of Great Lakes Research*, *47*, pp. S690-S703.

Maitland, P.S., 1980. Review of the ecology of lampreys in northern Europe. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 37(11), pp.1944-1952.

Malmqvist, B., 1980. The spawning migration of the brook lamprey, Lampetra planeri Bloch, in a South Swedish stream. Journal of Fish Biology, 16(1), pp.105-114.

Mateus, C.S., Docker, M.F., Evanno, G., Hess, J.E., Hume, J.B., Oliveira, I.C., Souissi, A. and Sutton, T.M., 2021. Population structure in anadromous lampreys: Patterns and processes. Journal of Great Lakes Research, 47, pp. S38-S58.

Mateus, C.S., Stange, M., Berner, D., Roesti, M., Quintella, B.R., Alves, M.J., Almeida, P.R. and Salzburger, W., 2013. Strong genome-wide divergence between sympatric European river and brook lampreys. Current biology, 23(15), pp. R649-R650.

Minich, J.J., Sanders, J.G., Amir, A., Humphrey, G., Gilbert, J.A. and Knight, R., 2019. Quantifying and understanding well-to-well contamination in microbiome research. *MSystems*, *4*(4), pp.10-1128.

Mobley, W., Atoba, K.O. and Highfield, W.E., 2020. Uncertainty in flood mitigation practices: Assessing the economic benefits of property acquisition and elevation in flood-prone communities. *Sustainability*, *12*(5), p.2098.

Mondal, B.K. and Sahoo, S., 2022. Application of Geospatial Techniques for Urban Flood Management: A Review. Spatial Modelling of Flood Risk and Flood Hazards, pp.225-236.

Morales-Marín, L.A., Rokaya, P., Sanyal, P.R., Sereda, J. and Lindenschmidt, K.E., 2019. Changes in streamflow and water temperature affect fish habitat in the Athabasca River basin in the context of climate change. *Ecological Modelling*, *407*, p.108718.

Morris, K.H., 1989. A multivariate morphometric and meristic description of a population of freshwater-feeding river lampreys, Lampetra fluviatilis (L.), from Loch Lomond, Scotland. *Zoological journal of the Linnean Society*, 96(4), pp.357-371.

Morris, R.L., Konlechner, T.M., Ghisalberti, M. and Swearer, S.E., 2018. From grey to green: Efficacy of eco-engineering solutions for nature-based coastal defence. *Global change biology*, *24*(5), pp.1827-1842.

Moser, M.L., Almeida, P.R., King, J.J. and Pereira, E., 2021. Passage and freshwater habitat requirements of anadromous lampreys: Considerations for conservation and control. *Journal of Great Lakes Research*, *47*, pp. S147-S158.

Moser, M.L., Butzerin, J.M. and Dey, D.B., 2007. Capture and collection of lampreys: the state of the science. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, *17*(1), pp.45-56.

Moser, M.L., Hume, J.B., Aronsuu, K.K., Lampman, R.T. and Jackson, A.D., 2019. Lamprey reproduction and early life history: insights from artificial propagation. *Lampreys: Biology, Conservation and Control: Volume 2*, pp.187-245.

Moser, M.L., Jackson, A.D., Lucas, M.C. and Mueller, R.P., 2015. Behavior and potential threats to survival of migrating lamprey ammocoetes and macrophthalmia. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, *25*(1), pp.103-116.

Muhawenimana, V., Follett, E., Maddock, I. and Wilson, C.A., 2023. Field-based monitoring of instream leaky barrier backwater and storage during storm events. *Journal of Hydrology*, p.129744.

Müller, S., Wilson, C.A., Ouro, P. and Cable, J., 2021. Leaky barriers: leaky enough for fish to pass? Royal Society open science, 8(3), p.201843.

Naidu, B.S.K., 2020. Developing silt consciousness in the minds of hydro power engineers. *Silting Problems in Hydro Power Plants*, pp.1-34.

Nakamura, F., 2022. Riparian Forests and Climate Change: Interactive Zone of Green and Blue Infrastructure. In Green Infrastructure and Climate Change Adaptation (pp. 73-91). Springer, Singapore.

NBN Atlas. NBN Atlas - UK's largest collection of biodiversity information. Accessed 2023.

Negro, G., Fenoglio, S., Quaranta, E., Comoglio, C., Garzia, I. and Vezza, P., 2021. Habitat preferences of Italian freshwater fish: A systematic review of data availability for applications of the MesoHABSIM model. *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, *9*, p.634737.

Negro, G., Marino, A., Forte, S., Lo Conte, P., Bo, T., Fenoglio, S. and Vezza, P., 2023. Ecological notes on an endemic freshwater lamprey, Lampetra zanandreai (Vladykov, 1955). *The European Zoological Journal*, *90*(2), pp.556-567.

Nekrutenko, A., Makova, K.D. and Baker, R.J., 2000. Isolation of binary species-specific PCR-based markers and their value for diagnostic applications. Gene, 249(1-2), pp.47-51.

Nicholson, A.R., O'Donnell, G.M., Wilkinson, M.E., and Quinn, P.F., 2020. The potential of runoff attenuation features as a Natural Flood Management approach. *Journal of Flood Risk Management*, *13*, p.e12565.

Nislow, K.H. and Kynard, B.E., 2009. The role of anadromous sea lamprey in nutrient and material transport between marine and freshwater environments. In *American Fisheries Society Symposium* (Vol. 69, No. Kircheis 2004, pp. 485-494).

Oliveira, I.C., Quintella, B.R., Mateus, C.S., Alexandre, C.M. and Almeida, P.R., 2022, June. Mesoand Micro-Habitat Preferences of European River and Brook Lamprey in a Mediterranean River Basin. In Biology and Life Sciences Forum (Vol. 13, No. 1, p. 93). MDPI.

Palmer, E.J., Maestre, J.P., Jarma, D., Lu, A., Willmann, E., Kinney, K.A. and Kirisits, M.J., 2021. Development of a reproducible method for monitoring SARS-CoV-2 in wastewater. *Science of The Total Environment*, 799, p.149405.

Pancza, B., Szathmáry, M., Gyurján, I., Bánkuti, B., Tudós, Z., Szathmary, S., Stipkovits, L., Sipos-Kozma, Z., Ásványi, B., Varga, L. and Szenthe, K., 2021. A rapid and efficient DNA isolation method for qPCR-based detection of pathogenic and spoilage bacteria in milk. *Food Control*, *130*, p.108236.

Paudel, S., Koprowski, J.L., Thakuri, U. and Karki, A., 2021. In-stream habitat availability for river dolphins in response to flow: Use of ecological integrity to manage river flows. *Plos one*, *16*(7), p.e0241099.

Pereira, C.L., Gilbert, M.T.P., Araújo, M.B. and Matias, M.G., 2021. Fine-tuning biodiversity assessments: A framework to pair eDNA metabarcoding and morphological approaches. Methods in Ecology and Evolution, 12(12), pp.2397-2409.

Piggott, M.P., 2016. Evaluating the effects of laboratory protocols on eDNA detection probability for an endangered freshwater fish. Ecology and evolution, 6(9), pp.2739-2750.

Pilliod, D.S., Goldberg, C.S., Arkle, R.S. and Waits, L.P., 2014. Factors influencing detection of eDNA from a stream-dwelling amphibian. *Molecular ecology resources*, *14*(1), pp.109-116.

Polyakova, N.V., Kucheryavyy, A.V., Pavlov, D.S. and Tsimbalov, I.A., 2019. Feeding habits of larval European river lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis from the Chernaya River (Baltic Sea Basin). Journal of Ichthyology, 59(2), pp.216-224.

Pratt, T.C., Morrison, B.J., Quinlan, H.R., Elliott, R.F., Grunder, S.A., Chiotti, J.A. and Young, B.A., 2021. Implications of the sea lamprey control program for lake sturgeon conservation and rehabilitation efforts. *Journal of Great Lakes Research*, *47*, pp. S421-S429.

Przybyla-Kelly, K.J., Spoljaric, A.M., and Nevers, M.B., 2023. Round Goby Detection in Lakes Huron and Michigan—An Evaluation of eDNA and Fish Catches. Fishes, 8(1), p.41.

Qian, T., Shan, X., Wang, W. and Jin, X., 2022. Effects of Temperature on the Timeliness of eDNA/eRNA: A Case Study of Fenneropenaeus chinensis. *Water*, *14*(7), p.1155.

Quintella, B.R., Andrade, N.O., Dias, N.M. and Almeida, P.R., 2007. Laboratory assessment of sea lamprey larvae burrowing performance. Ecology of Freshwater Fish, 16(2), pp.177-182.

Quintella, B.R., Clemens, B.J., Sutton, T.M., Lança, M.J., Madenjian, C.P., Happel, A. and Harvey, C.J., 2021. At-sea feeding ecology of parasitic lampreys. Journal of Great Lakes Research, 47, pp. S72-S89.

Rahel, F.J. and McLaughlin, R.L., 2018. Selective fragmentation and the management of fish movement across anthropogenic barriers. Ecological Applications, 28(8), pp.2066-2081.

Rausch, T., Hsi-Yang Fritz, M., Korbel, J.O. and Benes, V., 2019. Alfred: interactive multi-sample BAM alignment statistics, feature counting and feature annotation for long-and short-read sequencing. *Bioinformatics*, *35*(14), pp.2489-2491.

Rees, H.C., Maddison, B.C., Middleditch, D.J., Patmore, J.R. and Gough, K.C., 2014. The detection of aquatic animal species using environmental DNA–a review of eDNA as a survey tool in ecology. Journal of applied ecology, 51(5), pp.1450-1459.

Rishan, S.T., Kline, R.J. and Rahman, M.S., 2023. Applications of environmental DNA (eDNA) to detect subterranean and aquatic invasive species: A critical review on the challenges and limitations of eDNA metabarcoding. Environmental Advances, p.100370.

Rougemont, Q., Gagnaire, P.A., Perrier, C., Genthon, C., Besnard, A.L., Launey, S. and Evanno, G., 2017. Inferring the demographic history underlying parallel genomic divergence among pairs of parasitic and nonparasitic lamprey ecotypes. *Molecular ecology*, *26*(1), pp.142-162.

Rourke, M.L., Fowler, A.M., Hughes, J.M., Broadhurst, M.K., DiBattista, J.D., Fielder, S., Wilkes Walburn, J. and Furlan, E.M., 2022. Environmental DNA (eDNA) as a tool for assessing fish biomass: A review of approaches and future considerations for resource surveys. Environmental DNA, 4(1), pp.9-33.

Ruijter, J.M., Barnewall, R.J., Marsh, I.B., Szentirmay, A.N., Quinn, J.C., van Houdt, R., Gunst, Q.D. and van den Hoff, M.J., 2021. Efficiency correction is required for accurate quantitative PCR analysis and reporting. *Clinical chemistry*, *67*(6), pp.829-842.

Ruiz-Villalba, A., Ruijter, J.M. and van den Hoff, M.J., 2021. Use and misuse of Cq in qPCR data analysis and reporting. *Life*, *11*(6), p.496.

Russon, I.J. and Kemp, P.S., 2011. Experimental quantification of the swimming performance and behaviour of spawning run river lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis and European eel Anguilla anguilla. *Journal of Fish Biology*, *78*(7), pp.1965-1975.

Sachse, K., 2003. Specificity and performance of diagnostic PCR assays. PCR detection of microbial pathogens, pp.3-29.

Saito, T. and Doi, H., 2021. Degradation modeling of water environmental DNA: Experiments on multiple DNA sources in pond and seawater. *Environmental DNA*, *3*(4), pp.850-860.

Schrader, C., Schielke, A., Ellerbroek, L. and Johne, R., 2012. PCR inhibitors–occurrence, properties and removal. Journal of applied microbiology, 113(5), pp.1014-1026.

Schreiber, A. and Engelhorn, R., 1998. Population genetics of a cyclostome species pair, river lamprey (Lampetra fluviatilis L.) and brook lamprey (Lampetra planeri Bloch). Journal of Zoological Systematics and Evolutionary Research, 36(1-2), pp.85-99.

Shephard, S., Gallagher, T., Rooney, S.M., O'Gorman, N., Coghlan, B. and King, J.J., 2019. Lengthbased assessment of larval lamprey population structure at differing spatial scales. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems, 29(1), pp.39-46.

Shogren, A.J., Tank, J.L., Egan, S.P., August, O., Rosi, E.J., Hanrahan, B.R., Renshaw, M.A., Gantz, C.A. and Bolster, D., 2018. Water flow and biofilm cover influence environmental DNA detection in recirculating streams. *Environmental science & technology*, *52*(15), pp.8530-8537.

Short, C., Clarke, L., Carnelli, F., Uttley, C. and Smith, B., 2019. Capturing the multiple benefits associated with nature-based solutions: Lessons from a natural flood management project in the Cotswolds, UK. *Land degradation & development*, *30*(3), pp.241-252.

Silva, S., Gooderham, A., Forty, M., Morland, B. and Lucas, M.C., 2015. Egg drift and hatching success in European river lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis: is egg deposition in gravel vital to spawning success? *Aquatic conservation: marine and freshwater ecosystems*, *25*(4), pp.534-543.

Smith, C.J. and Osborn, A.M., 2009. Advantages and limitations of quantitative PCR (Q-PCR)-based approaches in microbial ecology. FEMS microbiology ecology, 67(1), pp.6-20.

Souissi, A., Besnard, A.L. and Evanno, G., 2022. A SNP marker to discriminate the european brook lamprey (Lampetra planeri), river lamprey (L. fluviatilis) and their hybrids. *Molecular Biology Reports*, *49*(10), pp.10115-10119.

Sperone, E., Filice, M., Giglio, G., Leonetti, F.L., Tripepi, S. and Imbrogno, S., 2019. New southernmost record of the European Brook Lamprey, Lampetra planeri (Bloch, 1784) (Agnatha, Petromyzontidae). Check List, 15(1), pp.131-134.

Staponkus, R. and Kesminas, V., 2014. Confirmation of hybridization between river lamprey L. fluviatilis and brook lamprey L. planeri from in situ experiments. Polish Journal of Natural Sciences, 29(1), pp.49-54.

Stoeckle, B.C., Beggel, S., Cerwenka, A.F., Motivans, E., Kuehn, R. and Geist, J., 2017. A systematic approach to evaluate the influence of environmental conditions on eDNA detection success in aquatic ecosystems. PLoS One, 12(12), p.e0189119.

Takeuchi, A., Iijima, T., Kakuzen, W., Watanabe, S., Yamada, Y., Okamura, A., Horie, N., Mikawa, N., Miller, M.J., Kojima, T. and Tsukamoto, K., 2019. Release of eDNA by different life history stages and during spawning activities of laboratory-reared Japanese eels for interpretation of oceanic survey data. Scientific reports, 9(1), p.6074.

Tang, Q., 2020. Global change hydrology: Terrestrial water cycle and global change. *Science China. Earth Sciences*, 63(3), pp.459-462.

Thalinger, B., Deiner, K., Harper, L.R., Rees, H.C., Blackman, R.C., Sint, D., Traugott, M., Goldberg, C.S. and Bruce, K., 2021. A validation scale to determine the readiness of environmental DNA assays for routine species monitoring. *Environmental DNA*, *3*(4), pp.823-836.

Thermo Fisher. Thermo Fisher Scientific - UK. Accessed 2023.

Thomas, A.C., Tank, S., Nguyen, P.L., Ponce, J., Sinnesael, M. and Goldberg, C.S., 2020. A system for rapid eDNA detection of aquatic invasive species. Environmental DNA, 2(3), pp.261-270.

Thomsen, P.F. and Willerslev, E., 2015. Environmental DNA–An emerging tool in conservation for monitoring past and present biodiversity. Biological conservation, 183, pp.4-18.

Thomsen, P.F., Kielgast, J.O.S., Iversen, L.L., Wiuf, C., Rasmussen, M., Gilbert, M.T.P., Orlando, L. and Willerslev, E., 2012. Monitoring endangered freshwater biodiversity using environmental DNA. *Molecular ecology*, *21*(11), pp.2565-2573.

Toimil, A., Losada, I.J., Nicholls, R.J., Dalrymple, R.A. and Stive, M.J., 2020. Addressing the challenges of climate change risks and adaptation in coastal areas: A review. *Coastal Engineering*, *156*, p.103611.

Tsimbalov, I.A., Kucheryavyy, A.V., Veselov, A.E. and Pavlov, S., 2015, May. Description of the European river lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis (L., 1758) from the Lososinka River (Onega Lake basin). In Doklady Biological Sciences (Vol. 462, No. 1, p. 124). Springer Nature BV.

Tsuji, S., Takahara, T., Doi, H., Shibata, N. and Yamanaka, H., 2019. The detection of aquatic macroorganisms using environmental DNA analysis—A review of methods for collection, extraction, and detection. Environmental DNA, 1(2), pp.99-108.

Tummers, J.S., Winter, E., Silva, S., O'Brien, P., Jang, M.H. and Lucas, M.C., 2016. Evaluating the effectiveness of a Larinier super active baffle fish pass for European river lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis before and after modification with wall-mounted studded tiles. Ecological Engineering, 91, pp.183-194.

United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction, 2022. GAR2022: Our World at Risk | UNDRR

United States Agricultural Department. USDA. Accessed 2023.

Valentini, P. and Pompa, P.P., 2016. A universal polymerase chain reaction developer. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 55(6), pp.2157-2160.

Van Pelt-Verkuil, E., Van Belkum, A. and Hays, J.P., 2008. *Principles and technical aspects of PCR amplification*. Springer Science & Business Media.

Veilleux, H.D., Misutka, M.D. and Glover, C.N., 2021. Environmental DNA and environmental RNA: Current and prospective applications for biological monitoring. Science of the Total Environment, 782, p.146891.

Venkataramanan, V., Lopez, D., McCuskey, D.J., Kiefus, D., McDonald, R.I., Miller, W.M., Packman, A.I. and Young, S.L., 2020. Knowledge, attitudes, intentions, and behavior related to green infrastructure for flood management: A systematic literature review. Science of the Total Environment, 720, p.137606.

Virdin, J., Vegh, T., Akester, S., Chu, J., Baio, A., Hamilton, J., Macias, J., Matthiasson, S., Sherif, S. and Grieco, D.I., 2022. A snapshot of the economic benefits from foreign bottom trawling in coastal West Africa: A mutually-beneficial trade in services, no winners or extractivism?. Fish and Fisheries, 23(5), pp.1070-1082.

Wang, S., Yan, Z., Hänfling, B., Zheng, X., Wang, P., Fan, J. and Li, J., 2021. Methodology of fish eDNA and its applications in ecology and environment. Science of the Total Environment, 755, p.142622.

Weber, S., Junk, I., Brink, L., Wörner, M., Künzel, S., Veith, M., Teubner, D., Klein, R., Paulus, M. and Krehenwinkel, H., 2023. Molecular diet analysis in mussels and other metazoan filter feeders and an assessment of their utility as natural eDNA samplers. Molecular Ecology Resources, 23(2), pp.471-485.

Weldon, L., O'Leary, C., Steer, M., Newton, L., Macdonald, H. and Sargeant, S.L., 2020. A comparison of European eel Anguilla anguilla eDNA concentrations to fyke net catches in five Irish lakes. *Environmental DNA*, *2*(4), pp.587-600.

Wells, J., Labadz, J.C., Smith, A. and Islam, M.M., 2020. Barriers to the uptake and implementation of natural flood management: A social-ecological analysis. *Journal of flood risk management*, *13*, p.e12561.

Wesselmann, M., Geraldi, N.R., Marbà, N., Hendriks, I.E., Díaz-Rúa, R. and Duarte, C.M., 2022. eDNA Reveals the Associated Metazoan Diversity of Mediterranean Seagrass Sediments. Diversity, 14(7), p.549.

White, D.S., 1990. Biological relationships to convective flow patterns within stream beds. *Hydrobiologia*, *196*, pp.149-158.

Wilkinson, M.E., Addy, S., Quinn, P.F. and Stutter, M., 2019. Natural flood management: small-scale progress and larger-scale challenges. *Scottish Geographical Journal*, *135*(1-2), pp.23-32.

Wingfield, T., Macdonald, N., Peters, K., Spees, J. and Potter, K., 2019. Natural flood management: Beyond the evidence debate. *Area*, *51*(4), pp.743-751.

Wittwer, C.T., Herrmann, M.G., Gundry, C.N. and Elenitoba-Johnson, K.S., 2001. Real-time multiplex PCR assays. Methods, 25(4), pp.430-442.

Wong, M.K.S., Nakao, M. and Hyodo, S., 2020. Field application of an improved protocol for environmental DNA extraction, purification, and measurement using Sterivex filter. *Scientific Reports*, *10*(1), p.21531.

Xia, Z., Zhan, A., Johansson, M.L., DeRoy, E., Haffner, G.D. and MacIsaac, H.J., 2021. Screening marker sensitivity: Optimizing eDNA-based rare species detection. Diversity and Distributions, 27(10), pp.1981-1988.

Yates, M.C., Fraser, D.J. and Derry, A.M., 2019. Meta-analysis supports further refinement of eDNA for monitoring aquatic species-specific abundance in nature. *Environmental DNA*, *1*(1), pp.5-13.

Yorke, M.A., and McMillan, D.B., 1979. Nature and cellular origin of the adhesive coats of the lamprey egg (Petromyzon marinus). Journal of Morphology, 162(3), pp.313-325.

You, X., Kumazawa, T., Ito, S., Hattori, R., Yu, H., Shiode, D. and Hu, F., 2021. Sediment recognition by warp tension monitoring of bottom otter trawling and applying the self-organizing map algorithm. Ocean Engineering, 236, p.109455.

Yu, M., Eglinton, T.I., Haghipour, N., Montluçon, D.B., Wacker, L., Wang, Z. and Zhao, M., 2019. Molecular isotopic insights into hydrodynamic controls on fluvial suspended particulate organic matter transport. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, *262*, pp.78-91.

Zancolli, G., Foote, A., Seymour, M. & Creer, S. 2018. Assessing lamprey populations in Scottish rivers using eDNA: proof of concept. Scottish Natural Heritage Research Report No. 984.

Zhang, Q., Wang, J., Deng, F., Yan, Z., Xia, Y., Wang, Z., Ye, J., Deng, Y., Zhang, Z., Qiao, M. and Li, R., 2015. TqPCR: a touchdown qPCR assay with significantly improved detection sensitivity and amplification efficiency of SYBR green qPCR. *PloS one*, *10*(7), p.e0132666.

Zhu, H., Zhang, H., Xu, Y., Laššáková, S., Korabečná, M. and Neužil, P., 2020. PCR past, present and future. *BioTechniques*, 69(4), pp.317-325.

Zinke, L., 2020. The colours of carbon. Nature Reviews Earth & Environment, 1(3), pp.141-141.

Zou, K., Chen, J., Ruan, H., Li, Z., Guo, W., Li, M. and Liu, L., 2020. eDNA metabarcoding as a promising conservation tool for monitoring fish diversity in a coastal wetland of the Pearl River Estuary compared to bottom trawling. Science of the Total Environment, 702, p.134704.

Zvezdin, A.O., Kucheryavyy, A.V. and Pavlov, D.S., 2022. The Place and Role of Downstream Migration of Ammocoetes in the Life Cycle of the European River Lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis (Petromyzontidae). *Journal of Ichthyology*, pp.1-15.

Zvezdin, A.O., Pavlov, D.S., Kucheryavyy, A.V. and Tsimbalov, I.A., 2017. Experimental study of the European river lamprey, Lampetra fluviatilis (L.), migratory behavior in the period of initial dispersion of juveniles. *Inland Water Biology*, *10*(2), pp.209-218.